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Stock Historical Data

ER N C0757 - VANDA SYSTEMS
01/01/2000 - 28/02/2000

808,126,700 shares

Daily Average 15,203,168 shares
Total $ Turnaver 2,732,56%,657
Average 5 Turnover [LRIPE-FEI

7.95/1.87
B6/1,72

eighted Average Price  [[RER)

% Turmnover Close %Change
03/01/2000 13,390,000 37,602,450 2.900 2725 2775 17,369.63
04/01/2000 7,508,000 19,823,250 2750 2.575 2.600 631  17,072.82
05/01/2000 9,174,000 20,709,950 2.375 2.100 2.225| -1442] 15848.72
06/01/2000 7,652,000 15,292,430 2.300 1.720 1.870|  -15.86]  15,153.23
07/01/2000 8,852,000 17,746,460 2100 1.800 2.025 829  15.405.63
10/01/2000 14,846,000 34,469,750 2.450 2.200 24000  18.52]  15,48.15
11/01/2000 7,824,000 19,291,550 2.700 2.225 2.400 0.00[  15862.10
12/01/2000 4,418,000 10,302,900 2.400 2.250 2.325 -3.12] 1571420
13/01/2000 3,266,000 7,494,300 2.350 2225 2.250 -323| 1563396
14/01/2000 8,194,000 20,004,050 2.550 2.325 2.350 444 1554223
17/01/2000 2,970,000 6,958,650 2.500 2.225 2.300 -213| 1557458
18/01/2000 3,148,000 7,381,800 2.425 2.275 2275 -1.09] 1578920
19/01/2000 3,382,000 7,822,900 2.375 2.225 2.250 -1.10] 1527534
20/01/2000 8,752,000 21,181,200 2.550 2.250 2.375 5.56|  15215.31
21/01/2000 22,404,000 58,481,950 2.750 2.425 2.700|  1368] 15108.41
24/01/2000 16,848,000 48,295,750 3.025 2.750 2.750 1.85]  15,167.55
25/01/2000 5,522,000 14,223,100 2.700 2.525 2.550 -7.27)  15,103.04
26/01/2000 5,870,000 15,462,550 2.800 2.525 2.775 8.82| 1542772
27/01/2000 3,532,000 9,347,300 2.775 2.575 2.575 -7.21]  15917.81
28/01/2000 3,976,000 10,112,150 2.625 2.450 2.500 291 16,185.94
31/01/2000 8,596,000 22,383,250 2.750 2.400 2.525 1.00]  15532.34
01/02/2C00 5.026,000 13,080,350 2.675 2.550 2.575 1.98| 15553.86
| 02/02/2000 4,638,000 12,312,650 2,800 2.600 2.625 1.94|  15789.82
03/02/2000 3,475,500 9,060,175 2675 2575 2.600 -0.95{  15368.12
08/02/2000 3,928,000 10,234,550 2.675 2.550 2.575 0.96| 16.228.73
08/62/2000 10,816,000 29,047,000 2.775 2.600 2.700 4850  16,319.48
10/02/2000 32,472,000 §5,902,600 3.100 2.725 2975  10.19]  16.845.17
11/02/2000 44,300,000 144,392,250 3.675 2.900 3.175 8.72|  17,380.30
14/02/2000 24,068,000 79,441,400 3.400 3.150 3.250 2.36| 17.188.56
15/02/2000 27,534,000 99,839,350 3.875 3.250 3725 14.62| 16.688.16
16/02/2000 35,520,000 152,811,950 4825 3.7C0 4600  2348] 17,043.39
17/02/2000 37,638,000 217,188,150| 6.400 4.760 5700 2331 16.581.23
18/02/2000 0 o - - 5.700 0.00| 16.589.18
21/02/2000 0 0] - - 5.700 0.00| 16,322.37
22/02/2600 81,548,000 606,754,500/ 8.500 5.800 7.950|  39.47| 1628517
23/02/2000 29,200,000 224,085,700] 8.300 6.300 B6.900!  .1321] 16,376.79
24/02/2€00 21.161,200 154,829,480 7.700 6.900 7.050 217  17,058.66




_ Annexure A (2 of 3)

~ Stock Historical Data Page 2 of 2
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25/02/2000 13,788,000 91309800, 7200 &250]  ges0] 567 172008
28/02/2000 26,408,000 14042050] 6600] 4975  s100] 2331 16.96a4g
29/02/2000 36.384000]  223180432) - 7400  &1s0]  7300] . aa1al 17,160.44
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SAMPLE COPY OF TYPE “A” SALMON LETTER



Annexure B (i)

COUNSEL FOR THE INSIDER DEALING TRIBUNAL

c/o 3/F, High Block,
Queensway Government Offices,
66 Queensway, Hong Kong.
Tel.: 2867 2558
Fax: 2536 8293

Our Ref. : IDTI5/03C

11 April 2005
Mr. Lam Hon Nam

i

Urgent By Hand
[Total Pages (including this page): 3 + encl.)

Dear Sir/Madam,

Insider Dealing Tribunal
Inquiry into Suspected Insider Dealing in the Shares of
Yanda Systems and Communications Holdings Limited
(now renamed Hutchison Global Communications Holdings Limited)
between 14" and 17" February 2000 (the “Inquiry®)

On 28 October 2003, the Financial Secretary by Notice given
pursuant to Section 16(2) of the Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance, Cap. 395,
Laws of Hong Kong (the “Ordinance”), required the Insider Dealing Tribunal to
inquire into and determine matters related to the trading in shares of Vanda
Systems and Communications Holdings Limited (now renamed Hutchison Global

Communications Holdings Limited (*the company™) as follows:

(a) “whether there has been insider dealing in relation to the company
connected with or arising out of the dealings in the listed securities of
the company by or on behalf of;

Chan Yuk, Chan Lai King, Wong Cheung Hung, Fong Long, Chung

Sau Wai, Chong Wai Lee and Chong Bun Bun between 14 and 17
February 2000 (both dates inclusive);

DH 784256 w2 LAM HON NAM



(b) in the event of there having been insider dealing as described in
paragraph (a) above, the identity of each and every insider dealer; and

(c) the amount of any profit gained or loss avoided as a result of such
insider dealing.”

The Tribunal comprises the Honourable Mr Justice McMahon
(Chairman} and two members, Professor LAM Kin and Mr NG Tze-kin, David. In
accordance with section 15(5) of the Ordinance and paragraph 18 of the Schedule
thereto, Mr Peter Duncan, S.C. and the undersigned, a legal officer from the
Department of Justice, have been appointed to act as Counsel for the Tribunal for
' the purposes of the Inquiry.

"The Inquiry has been convened as a result of an investigation by the
Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) into the affairs of the company,
which brought to light evidence which suggests you may have been an insider
dealer. The Tribunal has determined that your conduct will be the subject of the
Inquiry and that you are potentially implicated or concerned in the subject matter

of the Inquiry.

The Tribunal intends to conduct the Inquiry at public sittings and
will require you to attend before it and give evidence. You are entitled to be
represented by a barrister or solicitor and may apply to the Tribunal to call any

material witnesses concerning these allegations.

I am enclosing with this letter a synopsis of the results of the SFC
investigation. In due course you {or your legal representatives on your behalf) will
receive copies of statements and other evidence previously obtained by the SFC
and on which the synopsis is based. It is intended this evidence be adduced before

the Tribunal for the purposes of the Inquiry.

DH 784236 v2 Lam Hon Nam



Unless you are notified to the contrary, the Inquiry will commence
by way of a public preliminary hearing to be held on 17 May 2005 (Tuesday) at
9:00 a.m. at the Insider Dealing Tribunal, 38" F loor, Immigration Tower, 7
Gloucester Road, Wanchai. This preliminary hearing is unlikely to last more than _
2 hours and, if you wish to be legally represented before the Tribunal, application
must be made by your counsel or solicitor on your behalf at this hearing. If you
intend to be legally represented, could you kindly notify me at Department of
Justice, Civil Division, 3" Floor, High Block, Queensway Government Offices, 66
Queensway, Hong Kong or you may reach me by telephone at 2867 2558. If you

do not wish to be legally represented, you must appear in person at this hearing.

It is expected that the Tribunal will commence its public sittings to
hear evidence from the end of June 2005. Thereafter, it is intended that the
Tribunal will sit to hear evidence every weekday between 9:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m.

or at such other times as are convenient (public holidays excepted) until the

Inquiry is concluded.
Yours faithfully,
-
y //
(Dick HO)
Counsel for the Insider Dealing Tribunal
Encl.

DH 784256 v2 Lam Hon Nam
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Annexure B{ii)

COUNSEL FOR THE INSIDER DEALING TRIBUNAL

¢/o 3™ Floor, High Block,
Queensway Government Offices,
66 Queensway, Hong Kong.
Tel.: 2867 2558
Fax: 2869 0670

Our Ref.: IDTI 5/03C
11 April 2005

Madam Fong Long

BY HAND ONLY
[Total Pages (Including this Page): 2 + Encl]

Dear Sir/Madam,

Insider Dealing Tribunal
Inquiry into Suspected Insider Dealing in the Shares of
Vanda Systems and Communications Holdings Limited
(now renamed Hutchison Global Communications Holdings Limited)
between 14" and 17" February 2000 (the “Inquiry”)

On 28 October 2003, the Financial Secretary by Notice given pursuant to
Section 16(2) of the Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance, Cap. 395, Laws of
Hong Kong (the “Ordinance™), required the Insider Dealing Tribunal to inquire
into and determine matters related to the trading in shares of Vanda Systems and
Communications Holdings Limited (now renamed Hutchison Global

Communications Holdings Limited (*the company™) as follows:

(a) “whether there has been insider dealing in relation to the companies
connected with or arising out of the dealings in the listed securities of
the company by or on behalf of:

Chan Yuk, Chan Lai King, Wong Cheung Hung, Fong Long, Chung
Sau Wai, Chong Wai Lee and Chong Bun Bun between 14 and 17
February 2000 (both dates inclusive);

(b) in the event of there having been insider dealing as described in

DH 784237 v2 Fong Long



paragraph (a) above, the identity of each and every insider dealer;
and

(c) the amount of any profit gained or loss avoided as a result of such
insider dealing.”

The Inquiry has been convened following an investigation by
officers of the Securities and Futures Commission. A synopsis of the results of
the investigation is enclosed. It appears to the Tribunal that you are a person
who may be concerned in the subject matter of the inquiry and, as such, may be
able to assist the Tribunal.

It is likely that the Tribunal will require you to attend before it to
give evidence, in which event you will receive a Notice specifying a time, date
and place.

As a person concerned in the subject under inquiry, you are
entitled to be present at any sitting of the Tribunal and may be entitled to be
represented by a barrister or a solicitor. You should note that, while the
Tribunal has no present grounds for believing that you are implicated in insider
dealing, it is possible that the Tribunal may comment, possibly adversely, on
your conduct. Your attention is drawn to paragraphs 19 and 20 of the synopsis,
in particular. You may wish to bear this in mind when considering whether or
not to be legally represented.

If you wish to be legally represented, you should make an
application through your counsel or solicitor to the Tribunal at a preliminary
hearing. This will commence on 17 May 2005 at 9:00 a.m. at the Insider
Dealing Tribunal (Second Division) at 38" Floor, Immigration Tower, 7
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Chairman of the Tribunal is the
Honourable Mr Justice McMahon.

Yours faithfully,
y/ P
( Dick HO)

Counsel for the Insider Dealing Tribunal

DH 784257 v2



Annexure C

FULL CHRONOLOGY OF THE REPRESENTATION
OF THE IMPLICATED PARTIES



Annexure C

Insider Dealing Inquiry on
Vanda Systems and Communications Holdings Limited

Counsel for Implicated Persons

Name of Implicated Name of Counsel Instructing Date of Chairman’s
Parties Solicitors Approval
1. LAM Hon Nam Mr. Peter IP Messrs. Ko & 17 May 2005
Chow, Solicitors . ..
2 Vi AN b e
Silvia (Mr K F KO)

appeared on the Second
Preliminary Hearing of
31 May 2005)

Mr. Bernard MAK 17 May 2005
(For the First Preliminary
Hearing)

13 June 2003

(For the Substantive
Hearing)

Mr. Francis Burkett 3 February 2006

Mr. Simon NG (For the Re-commenced

Substantive Hearing)

3. CHOY Ming Yan, Unrepresented

Emnest
(but a law firm accepts service on their behalf: Mr Dick LEE, Messts
Chan, Leung & Co., Solicitors)
Unrepresented (as notified via his letter dated 5 December 20035)
4. Madam CHAN Lai Miss K. L. HUI, Messrs. Chan, 28 July 2003
King, Becky Catherine Is,e:}{n.gic & Co,, (For the Substantive
olicitors Hearing)
(Mr. Dick LEE)
Mr. George CHU Messrs. Louis K. Y. 28 December 2003
Pau & Co,, (For this Mention
Solicitors Hearing only)

Unrepresented (as notified via her letter dated 5 December 2005)




Name of Implicated Name of Counsel Instructing Date of Chairman’s
Parties Solicitors Approval
5. TSE Kwok Fai, | Mr. Jacky JIM Messrs. Alvin 17 May 2005
Sammy gﬁengs& 13953““3 (For the First
0% Souctiors Preliminary Hearing)
(Mr. Alvin
CHENG) 28 July 2005
(For the Substantive
Hearing)
Mr. Jeff HO 6 April 2006
Ms. Anna HO

(For the Re-commenced
Substantive Hearing)

6. Madam NG Kit
Ying, Debbie

Mr. Bernard MAK

Ms. Tanya CHAN

Messrs. Anthony
Siu & Co.,

Solicitors

(Mr. Anthony STU)

28 July 2005

(For the Substantive
Hearing)

17 May 2003

(For the Substantive
Hearing)

Unrepresented (as notified by Messrs.kAnthony Stu & Co., Solicitors via

their letter of 30 March 2006)

7. LI Yat Tung, Dennis

Mr. Benjamin CHAIN

Mr. Raymond TSUI

Messrs. Ricky Li &
Co., Solicitors

(Ms. Amy LAM)

28 July 2005

(For the Substantive
Hearing)

17 May 2003

(For the First
Preliminary Hearing)

28 July 2005
(For the Substantive
Hearing)




Name of Implicated Name of Counsel Instructing Date of Chairman’s
Parties Solicitors Approval
8. Madam WO Man Mr. M K WONG, SC | Messrs. Philip K H 28 July 20035
Shan, Christie Wong, Kennedy Y (For the Substantive
H Wong & Co., Hearing)
Solicttors &
Mr. Edwin CHOY (Mrs. Katherine 31 May 2005
NEWMAN) (For the Second
Preliminary Hearing)
28 July 2005
(For the Substantive
Hearing)
9. WONG Cheung - Messts. 17 May 2005
Hung, Chris D S C_heung & Co., (For the Substantive
Solicitors Heari
earing)
{Ms. Bonita So0%
Mr. Tony C Y LI CHAN) 9 August 2003
(For the Substantive
Hearing)
Mr. Tony C Y LI Messrs. Robert 6 April 2006

Wang Solicitors

(Ms. Bonita
CHAN)

(For the Re-commenced
Substantive Hearing)

10. CHONG Wat Lee,
Charles

11. Madam CHONG
Bun Bun, Becky

Mr. Kevin
PATTERSON

Mrt. Arthur WONG

Messrs. Sit, Fung,
Kwong & Shum,
Solicitors

(Mr. Tommy TAM)

17 May 2003

(For the Preliminary
Hearings held on
17 May, 31 May, 15-14
June, 15 July, 28-29
July, 1 & 2 August 2005)

28 July 2003

(For this hearing and
appeared on 29 July, 1
& 2 August 2003)

9 August 2003

(For this Mention
Hearing only)




Name of Implicated Name of Counsel Instructing Date of Chairman’s
Parties Solicitors Approval
10. CHONG Wai Lee, Ms, Kirsteen LAU Messrs. Sit, Fung, 23 August 2005
Charles (Cont’d) Kwong &  Shum, (For this Mention
Solicitors Hearing only)
11. Madam CHONG sony
Bun Bun, Becky Mr. Simon CHIU (Mr. Tommy TAM) 6 April 2006
(Cont’d) (Cont'd) (For the Re-commenced
Substantive Hearing)

(Position as at 6 April 2006)
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TRIBUNAL’S RULING DELIVERED ON 9™ AUGUST 2005

RE: THE APPLICATIONS MADE ON BEHALF OF
CHARLES CHONG & CHONG BUN BUN

BETWEEN 28" JULY AND 282 AUGUST 2005



Annexure D

INSIDER DEALING TRIBUNAL

IN THE MATTER of the Securities
(Insider Dealing) Ordinance, Cap 395

and

IN THE MATTER of an Inquiry into
certain dealings in the listed securities of
Vanda Systems and Communications Holdings Limited

Tribunal: Chairman: The Hon Mr. Justice McMahon
Members: Professor LAM Kin
Mr. NG Tze Kin, David

Dates of Hearing: 28" July - 2" August 2005

Date of Delivery of Ruling: 9™ August 2005

RULING




1. Mr. Kevin Patterson represents CHONG Wai Lee, Charles
(Charles CHONG) and Madam CHONG Bun Bun, Becky (Becky
CHONG) for the purposes of the present applications. They are
implicated persons in the present inquiry and are brother and sister. M.
Patterson makes a series of applications on their behalf all of which seek

the cessation of this inquiry so far as his clients are concerned.

2, Firstly, he argues that the present Tribunal lacks
independence and impartiality because its lay members were selected by
the Chairman who in doing so was acting as an arm of the executive, i.e.
of the Financial Secretary. He says in this regard also that counsel
assisting (at that time Mr. Duncan, SC and Mr. Dick HO of the
Department of Justice) prior to their appointment as counsel assisting had
advised the Financial Secretary in respect of the present inquiry, and so
were in a position of conflict vis-d-vis their duties towards the Financial
Secretary and the Tribunal. He says also, so far as the Tribunal's
impartiality is concerned, that the present Tribunal became scized with
another inquiry the subject of a section 16(2) notice (called "Harbour
Ring" for convenience) which may involve implicated parties who are
also implicated parties in the present inquiry, and in so doing may be

perceived as being biased against the present implicated parties.

3. The second argument of Mr. Patterson is that the Tribunal
failed to comply with the provisions of paragraph 17 of the Securities

(Insider Dealing) Ordinance as it has been amended by sections 78 and



80(b) of Schedule 10 of the new Securities and Futures Ordinance. He
says in this regard that the Tribunal should only arrive at a decision as to
whom the implicated parties are at the first sitting of the Tribunal, that is
either at the preliminary hearing (which it is accepted was a sitting of the
Tribunal) or at a meeting held between the Tribunal and counsel assisting
on the 31% March 2005 (if that was a sitting). In either case he says his
clients were entitled to make representations as to whether or not they

should have been regarded as implicated parties by the Tribunal.

4, Finally, Mr. Patterson says these proceedings should be
stopped because of the five year three month delay between the share
trading the subject of the inquiry in February 2000 and the
commencement of proceedings at the preliminary hearing held in May
2005, which period includes a 17 month delay between the Tribunal's
receipt of the section 16(2) notice from the Financial Secretary and the

issuance of Salmon letters to the implicated parties.

5. Those applications require the resolution of a mixture of
issues of facts and law. Accordingly, in this ruling by the Tribunal
matters of fact were decided by all members, matters of law by the
Chairman alone, although for convenience sake a finding of either fact or

law is referred to as that of the Tribunal.

6. As a preliminary matter Mr. Patterson originally sought to

argue that the matters he complains of are breaches of the rights of his



clients at common law and of their rights under Articles 10 and 11 of the
Hong Kong Bill of Rights Ordinance (the Bill of Rights) and of Article
14(1) and (3) of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
(the ICCPR). In this Tribunal's view Article 11 of the Bill of Rights and
Article 14(3) of the ICCPR (which for present purposes are in the same
terms) can have no application to these proceedings and Mr. Patterson
was right to inform us during the course of his argument that he no longer
relied on those two Articles. They are restricted in their terms to
criminal matters. The present proceedings are civil in nature: see K - v -
Securities and Futures Commission (1993) 3 HKPLR 1. They are
governed only by Article 14(1) of the ICCPR and Article 10 of the Bill of
Rights. Both Articles are in the same terms and we set out the relevant

part of Article 10 only:-

" Article 10
Equality before courts and right
to fair and public hearing

All persons shall be equal before the courts and tribunals.

In the determination of any criminal charge against him, or of his

rights and obligations in a suit at law, everyone shall he entitled

to a fair and public hearing by a competent, independent and
impartial tribunal established by law..."

[cf ICCPR Art. 14.1]

In the present case we will proceed on the basis that the principles of
fairness, independence and impartiality referred to in Article 10 (and

Article 14(1) of the ICCPR) are indistinguishable with those principles as



they exist in the common law: see R - v - William HUNG (1992) 2
HKCLR 90, R - v - CHEUNG Wai Bun (1993) 1 HKCLR 189.

THE TRIBUNAL'S LTACK OF INDEPENDENCE AND IMPARTIALITY
7. We turn now to the first application by Mr. Patterson, to the

effect this Tribunal lacks independence and impartiality.

8. There have been a number of tests of impartiality proposed
by the courts here and overseas in recent years. In our view the
appropriate test is that of the reasonable apprehension of bias favoured by
the Court of Final Appeal in Deacons - v - White & Case Ltd. [2003] 3
HK.C 374 which was based on the test proposed in the English Court of
Appeal in Re Medicaments and Related Classes of Goods (No. 2) [2001]
1 WLR 700 as refined in Porter - v - Magill [2002] 2 AC 357. That test
was subsequently adopted by the Court of Appeal in Sun Honest
Development Ltd. - v - Appeal Tribunal (Buildings) CACV 254/2004.
The test itself was definitively stated in Porter - v - Magill [2002] 2 AC
357 in this way:

"The question is whether the fair minded and informed observer
having considered the facts would conclude there was a real
possibility that the Tribunal was biased.”

That formulation of the test is the one we adopt for the purpose of these

applications.



g, In support of his argument that this Tribunal lacks
independence or impartiality Mr. Patterson relies primarily on two
circumstances. He complains that it was wrong for the Chairman to
select two individuals (who subsequently became the lay members in this
inquiry) and have them nominated to the Financial Secretary for

appointment.

10. He complains additionally that as counsel assisting the
Tribunal at one time also advised the Financial Secretary about this case
they themselves may be perceived as lacking impartiality and that

perception may "taint" the Tribunal itself.

11. We will deal with those two complaints in turn.

The Chai ' Role in the Appoi the Lav Mem!
12. The two lay members were appointed by the Financial

Secretary on the 18™ March 2005 pursuant to letters of appointment of

that date.

13, Mr. Patterson argues that the "appointment" was such in
name only and that in reality both members were in fact selected and
nominated by the Chairman from a panel of prospective lay members and
that the Financial Secretary merely rubber stamped a selection already

made. Mr. Patterson says that is not a proper appointment.



14. It is true that the present members were selected from a list
of prospective members by the Chairman and interviewed by him. It is
accepted that interview was for the purpose of determining whether either
lay member had any conflict of interest in this inquiry and whether the
lay member's professional and personal commitments would allow him to

sit during the anticipated timetable of the inquiry.

15. We might add that the panel of prospective members from
which the present members were selected is compiled by the Financial
Services and Treasury Bureau (FSB) and comprises persons who have
volunteered their services from the academic, accountancy, legal and
various commercial fields in Hong Kong, and includes many retired
individuals and others whose working hours allow them better
opportunities to sit as members of the Tribunal. All have some form of
working or professional experience which qualifies them as a matter of

practicality to sit as lay members.

16. The lay members' personal particulars were then forwarded
to the ICAC for "vetting". The results of that were then provided to the
Tribunal in brief form to the effect that there was no objection to the two

members being appointed to the Tribunal.

17. The members' names were then forwarded to the FSB, which
is under the supervision of the Financial Secretary, under a covering

memorandum which requested the formal appointment of the two



members and included also the results of the ICAC "vetting" which had

earlier taken place.

18. That memorandum was in these terms:

"2. Mr Ng and Professor Lam have seen the Dramatis
Personae and the synopsis of the evidence of the inquiry during
an interview by the Chairman and they have indicated that there
is no conflict of interest if they were appointed as members for
the inquiry. ICAC vetting on Mr Ng and Professor Lam have
been completed and the vetting result is set out in ICAC's
memos ... dated 20 January and 10 March 2005 respectively, a
copy each of which together with our requesting memos is
attached for your reference. The curriculum vitae of Mr Ng and
Professor Lam are also enclosed.”

Then, following a brief description of the personal particulars of the two

lay members, the memorandum concluded:-

"4, [ should be grateful if you would arrange for their
formal appointment as IDT members under section 15(2) of the
Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance, Cap. 395 by the
Financial Secretary.”

All correspondence relating to the nomination and appointment process

was disclosed to the implicated parties.

19. In the Tribunal's view, there is a plain difference in functions
concermning "nominating” or "recommending” someone for appointment

and the act of appointment itself.



20. Section 15(2) of the Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance
Cap. 395 makes this distinction as does paragraph 18 of the Schedule to it.
If, as seems clear to this Tribunal, the two functions are different then the
exercise of one by the Chairman does not preclude the proper exercise of

the other by the Financial Secretary.

21. Further, if the legislation is silent as to who shall recommend
or nominate members then there can be no prohibition express or implied
on the Chairman making such a recommendation. Any such
recommendation or nomination does not operate to prevent the Financial
Secretary's discretion in appointing the proposed lay members being
exercised. Any absence of legislation as to who may recommend the
appointment of a lay member does not mean it is intended the Financial
Secretary must take it upon himself to search for and find suitable persons

to be then appointed as lay members to the Tribunal.

22. A person vested with a power, such as the Financial
Secretary has in the present case, can accept advice, recommendations or
urgings from any source he reasonably regards as proper and fit to offer
such advice or recommendation. In this Tribunal's view the Financial
Secretary was acting properly in considering and deciding to appoint the

members on the recommendation of the Chairman.



23. Subsequently each of the present members received a letter

of appointment signed by the Financial Secretary in these terms:-

"I hereby appoint you in accordance with section 15(2) of the
Ordinance to be a member of the Insider Dealing Tribunal for
the inquiry specified in this letter."

24, Whatever the terminology of the covering letter which
provided the names of the present members to the FSB the reality was
that it remained a matter for the Financial Secretary's discretion as to
whether to appoint the present members or not. Obviously he had to
have some information before him which he could take into account
before he exercised his discretion. That information comprised the
nomination of them through the FSB by the Chairman of this Tribunal to
the effect that they had no apparent conflict of interest in the subject
matter of the inquiry or with the witnesses who were to be called, as well
as the favourable report upon them by the ICAC. 1In our judgment that
is sufficient information for the Financial Secretary to properly determine

whether the members should or should not be appointed.

25. It most certainly was not a "rubber stamp" exercise as
suggested by Mr. Patterson. The decision to appoint the two lay
members was the Financial Secretary's based on the information before
him. It may be that the two lay members were selected from the panel
of prospective members, and were interviewed by the Chairman prior to

being nominated or recommended by the Secretary of the Tribunal for
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appointment, but the function of appointment was not removed from the
hands of the Financial Secretary, and the lay members in this Tribunal

were properly appointed.

26. As a corollary to his argument in this regard Mr. Patterson
also suggests by selecting the members in the way he did the Chairman
became the unofficial delegate of the Financial Secretary and performed a
role which the Financial Secretary should have performed, and thereby

lost his independence and impartiality in these proceedings.

27. Unlike provisions for the appointment of the Chairman and
counsel assisting, there is no provision in the Securities (Insider Dealing)
Ordinance ("SIDQ") for the formal recommendation to the Financial

Secretary of persons as lay members. Perhaps there should be.

28. But that does not mean that there can be no recommendation.
As we have said the Financial Secretary is entitled to accept nominations
as to the appointment of lay members to Tribunals from whatever source
he reasonably regards as appropriate. Equally in selecting the
candidates for appointment the Chairman was acting reasonably. He is
in the best position to know the timetable of his inquiry and to explain to
lay members how the inquiry will be conducted and what issues may
arise. He is in the best position to determine whether a potential

member may have a conflict of interest.
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29, The Chairman was acting for proper reasons in selecting and
recommending the lay members for appointment. In doing so the
Chairman did not compromise the independence or impartiality of the
Tribunal. Indeed, if one were to be pedantic the Chairman was, by so
doing, going some way to limit the influence of the Financial Secretary
on the composition of the Tribunal. That is a step towards the

independence and impartiality of the Tribunal.

30. No fair minded persons in those circumstances in this
Tribunal's view would regard the selection by the Chairman and
appointment of the lay members by the Financial Secretary as generating
any possibility of this Tribunal being biased. That is particularly so
given the fact that all Tribunals since the commencement of SIDQ have
had lay members appointed in like manner. As was said by Laws L] in
R - v - Spear (2001) QB 804 at 819 in dealing with the reasonable man's
apprehension of bias, the test was (under article 6(1) of the Convention
for Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms as

incorporated into English Law):-

"Would the reasonable man apprised of all the relevant facts about the
particular case and the general practice conclude that there existed any

real doubt as to the court’s impartiality or independence.”
(emphasis in judgment)

31. In this Tribunal's view the fact that this Tribunal in the

present inquiry has adopted a practice general to all earlier inquiries is a
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factor operating against any apprehension of bias in the mind of a fair

minded observer of this particular inquiry,

The Role of C. [ Assisti
32. The second challenge to the independence and impartiality

of this Tribunal is mounted by Mr. Patterson in this way.

33. He says because counsel assisting the inquiry (who were
originally Mr. Duncan SC and Mr. Dick HO of the Department of Justice,
Mr. Duncan being replaced at the conclusion of the preliminary hearings
by Mr. Marash SC) had previously acted as advisors to the Financial
Secretary (via the FSB) so far as the subject matter of this inquiry is
concerned, then they lacked independence and impartiality when they
were appointed as counsel assisting the Tribunal and that in turn tainted

this Tribunal.

34, Mr. HO disclosed his involvement with the provision of
advice to the FSB. A statement summarising his role in that regard was

provided to the Tribunal in open court.

35. It was as follows:-

"Chronology of issue of section 16(2) notice

(1) When the SFC completed its investigation in to the Vanda matter,
it submitted a report to Financial Services & Treasury Bureau.
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(2) FSTB then asked Dol for legal advice, which in the case of
Vanda, was provided by senior council from outside the DoJ [not
Mr. D.Y. Marash §.C.]. Dick HO (Government Counsel in Civil
Litigation Unit) acted as instructing solicitor.

(3) After considering that legal advice, FS issued a section 16(2)
Notice to the Tribunal.”

The outside counsel referred to was Mr. Duncan, SC. The advice
presumably was as to the issuance of the section 16(2) notice and its

terms.

36. We have given careful consideration to Mr. Patterson's
complaint in this regard. As a general rule we think it proper to say that
it is desirable that so far as is possible the role of counsel advising the
Financial Secretary (whether directly or through the FSB) or any other
governmental body involved in the investigation, or initiation or
assessment of such investigation, should be kept separate from the role of

counsel assisting any subsequent inquiry into those same matters.

37. But the question before us is whether in the circumstances of
the present inquiry the roles of Mr. Duncan SC and Mr. HO in advising
the FSB prior to their appointment as counsel assisting the present
Tribunal could give rise in the mind of our notional objective observer to

the conclusion that there was a real possibility this Tribunal was biased.

38. We have decided that any such observer would dismiss that

possibility.
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39. Firstly, Mr. Patterson does not suggest any actual bias on the
part of either the Tribunal or of counsel assisting. He suggests in this
regard only that the Tribunal has incurred the appearance of possible bias
through its association with counsel who themselves have incurred the
appearance of possible bias by advising the FSB prior to the issue of the

section 16(2) notice.

40. That, to us, seems something less than an immediate
connection between this Tribunal and the circumstances giving rise to the

alleged apprehension of bias.

41. Secondly, Mr. Marash SC now (for unrelated reasons)
replaces Mr. Duncan SC. That occurred at an early stage in this inquiry
and before the calling of any evidence. The only involvement the
Tribunal had with Mr. Duncan was to meet with him and Mr. HO twice

prior to the preliminary hearing in this inquiry.

42. At those meetings (which we will shortly categorise as such,
though Mr. Patterson argues they were "sittings") the Tribunal discussed
primarily one topic; that is, which persons were to be served with Salmon
"A" letters (which is the generally accepted method of informing

someone that they are considered to be an implicated party).
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43, Of the present eleven implicated persons no material advice
was sought from or given by either Mr. Duncan or Mr, HO as to whether
those persons should be regarded as implicated persons. The Tribunal
required no assistance from counsel in that regard. The real issue was
whether there were other persons who had dealt in the shares of the
subject company and if so whether they should be considered as

implicated persons.

44. In other words there was no material input by counsel
assisting at those two meetings as to whether the present implicated
persons (including Mr. Patterson's clients) should be regarded as such.
That is plain from the transcript prepared of those two meetings. The
decision as to the present implicated persons being so regarded was
plainly that of the Tribunal members, The discussions between counsel
assisting and the Tribunal members (principally the Chairman) revolved
around those other persons who were eventually decided by the Tribunal,
after the provision of further material to it at a subsequent date, not to be
under sufficient suspicion to warrant amendment to the section 16(2)
notice and the issue to them of Salmon letters. No realistic possibility
exists, from the contents of those meetings, of the Tribunal being
influenced by counsel assisting adversely to the interests of the implicated

parties.

45, Thirdly, the advice that counsel gave to the FSB was not
advice to a party to these proceedings. The Financial Secretary (who is
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the person to whom that Bureau reports) is, in inquiries such as this, a
somewhat neutral entity. He simply orders that an inquiry be conducted
and does so by way of a notice to the Chairman pursuant to section 16(2)
of SIDO. That notice does not specify who the implicated parties are
(that is a matter to be subsequently determined by the Tribunal), nor does
it suggest suspicion falls on any individual. It simply requires that the
Tribunal inquire into certain share trading events and report whether there

has been insider dealing, if so by whom and in what degree.

46. In other words counsel's role in advising the FSB, though
undesirable, was of lesser importance in considering questions of bias
than if, for example, they had advised the Securities and Futures
Commission, who are the investigators of the subject matter of this

inquiry, and who effectively report their conclusions to the FSB.

47. So far as the role of counsel assisting to date is concerned we
wish to specifically refer to Mr. HO. He was junior counsel initially to
Mr. Duncan SC and now to Mr. Marash SC. His role in providing
advice to the FSB was, in those circumstances relatively minor. Mr.
Duncan no doubt provided the advice after Mr. HO briefed him. In
those circumstances his real involvement as a matter of fact with the FSB
was that of a "go between", Mr. Duncan having the conduct of the advice.
Nevertheless, though we do not think Mr. HO's continuing presence in
this inquiry as junior counsel assisting could give rise to any sensible

apprehension in the mind of an informed observer that either he, or more
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importantly, that through him this Tribunal, was biased or lacked
impartiality we think it right to say in accordance with what we have said
earlier that if reasonably possible it is best Mr. HO should be replaced as
junior counsel so as to preserve the separation between the roles of
counsel we think is desirable. That is in no way to cast any aspersion
upon Mr. HO. He has in this inquiry conducted himself entirely

properly and with a high degree of professionalism.

Harbour Ring

48. Mr. Patterson mounted one last argument concerning the
lack of independence or impartiality of this Tribunal. It relates to the
Chairman's involvement in deciding that this inquiry should proceed
separately and prior to another inquiry (to be held in Division 3 of the
Tribunal) which may involve at least some of the implicated parties in the

present inquiry.

49, Mr. Patterson says by the Chairman so deciding this Tribunal
has seized jurisdiction of the other inquiry and dealt with his clients in a
way which lacked impartiality because that decision was made without

input from the CHONG's and abrogated their rights in that regard.

50. We must confess we found it somewhat difficult to follow
this argument. But in any event are satisfied that the Chairman's
decision to proceed with this inquiry in advance of and separately from

the Harbour Ring inquiry in no way impinged upon the rights of any
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party implicated in the present inquiry. It certainly does not suggest any

lack of impartiality in the present Tribunal.

51. For one thing all dealings with Harbour Ring by the
Chairman arose from considerations of the best interests of the implicated
parties. If, as seems possible, the present implicated parties are also
involved in some way with the forthcoming Harbour Ring inquiry it is
obviously desirable to avoid contemporaneous hearings in the two
Divisions of the Tribunal dealing with the two inquiries. There is no
legal jurisdiction for the two inquiries to be amalgamated as they relate to
separate suspected instances of trading in different companies shares and

on different information.

52, In any event the Chairman decided that the present inquiry
should proceed first. The other Division has been alerted to that and the
Harbour Ring inquiry, we assume, will not start until an appropriate time

after the conclusion of the present inquiry.

53. These decisions were administrative. They were made to
lessen any burden on the implicated parties, and they were made prior to
the appointment of the lay members in the present inquiry, that is before

the present Tribunal was constituted.

54. It is true the Harbour Ring inquiry was mentioned in the first

meeting with counsel, when the lay members were present, but again only
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in the context of timetable considerations. That was the first time the

lay members were aware of the existence of the Harbour Ring inquiry.

55. In our view it stretches reality to suggest this present
Division of the Tribunal seized jurisdiction of the Harbour Ring inquiry.
A Chairman of a Tribunal must act as his own listing officer. He must
and is entitled to consider the existence of other matters the subject of
section 16(2) notices in performing that role. In doing so he does not
seize jurisdiction of all future inquiries he considers in that regard. He
most certainly does not do so on behalf of the future Tribunal on which
he will sit in circumstances where the lay members of that Tribunal have

not yet been appointed.

56. In our judgment none of the matters complained of either
individually or together could bring about any apprehension of bias in the

mind of our notional observer.

57. There is no merit to the first application made by Mr.

Patterson.

THE DETERMINATION OF THE IMPLICATED PARTIES

58. In his second application, Mr. Patterson argues that the
Tribunal's determination of who was to be considered an implicated
person and thereby served with a Salmon letter was wrongly conducted in

the absence of those persons.

20



59. Mr. Patterson's complaint arises in this way.

60, The Ordinance governing this Tribunal, that is SIDO, was
repealed by section 406(1)(f) of the Securities and Futures Ordinance Cap.
571 ("SFQ") which came into effect on the 1 April 2003,

61. Transitionary provisions were enacted however which
allowed suspected insider dealings which occurred at least in part before

the 1% April 2003 to continue to be dealt with under SIDO.

62. Pursuant to those provisions, where the section 16(2) notice
was issued after the coming into effect of the SFO as occurred in the

present inquiry then certain amendments were to be read into SIDO.

63. Those provisions and amendments are contained in sections

78 and 80 of Schedule 10 to the SFO:-

Section 78
"78. Where —

(a) the repealed Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance would but for the
enactment of this Ordinance have effect with respect to an insider dealing
within the meaning of the repealed Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance;
and

(b) the insider dealing has in whole or in part taken place before the
commencement of Part XIII of this Ordinance,
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but the Financial Secretary has not before the commencement of Part XIII of
this Ordinance instituted an inquiry with reference to the insider dealing under
section 16(2) of the repealed Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance, then the
repealed Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance shall continue to have
application in connection with the insider dealing and with any inquiry, appeal,
and other matters relating thereto (including, without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, the exercise of any power to appoint any person as a member
(whether as the chairman or other member) or as a temporary member of the
Insider Dealing Tribunal referred to in section 15 of that Ordinance for the
purposes of any inquiry relating thereto) as if -

(i)  this Ordinance had not been enacted; and
(i1) the repealed Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance had been amended in
the manner described in section 80."

Section 80

"80. Where section 78 applies, the repealed Securities (Insider Dealing) Ordinance
shall apply as if it had been amended -

(a) by adding -

“27A. Recommendations to Financial Secretary to institute
inquiry

At the conclusion of any inquiry or as soon as is reasonably
practicable thereafter, where it appears to the Tribunal that insider
dealing has taken place or may have taken place by reference to the
conduct of any person, it may, where it considers appropriate,
recommend the Financial Secretary to institute an inquiry under

section 16 to inquire into the matter.”,

() in the Schedule. i h 17. by adding he first sitti - 4
I .] ] I . ] . . " ﬁ “] ]] 1 I hl ”.ll
(emphasis added)
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64. The relevant and amended parts of the Schedule to SIDO

therefore now read as follows:-

"16. A person whose conduct is the subject of an inquiry or who
is implicated, or concemed in the subject matter of an
inquiry shall be entitled to be present in person at any
sitting of the Tribunal relating to that inquiry and to be

represented by a barrister or solicitor.

17. For the purposes of paragraph 16 the Tribunal shall

determine, af the first sitting of the Tribunal relating to
the inguiry, whether the conduct of any person is the
subject of the inquiry or whether a person is in any way

implicated or concerned in the subject matter of the
inquiry."
(emphasis added)

65, As a preliminary matter we are of the view that although
paragraphs 16 and 17 of the Schedule to SIDO refer to three categories of
persons, that is persons whose conduct is the subject of the inquiry,
persons who are implicated in the subject matter of the inquiry and
persons who are concerned in the subject matter of the inquiry, the
principles of this judgment apply equally to all of them and in most
instances we will refer to them as a group with the term "implicated

persons”.

66. Mr. Patterson argues that the result of the amendment to

paragraph 17, taken in conjunction with the terms of paragraph 16 is that
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any decision made by the Tribunal as to whom the implicated parties are
to be in an inquiry must be made at the first sitting of the Tribunal and in
the presence of those parties and they must be allowed to be heard on that

decision.

67. One fundamental difficulty with the interpretation placed
upon paragraph 17 (as amended) by Mr. Patterson's argument is that
before the Tribunal determines who the implicated parties are, they are
not entitled to the rights claimed by Mr. Patterson, i.e. they are not,
pursuant to paragraph 16, entitled to be present or to be represented by a

barrister or solicitor.

68. It is at the point of the determination by the Tribunal
pursuant to paragraph 17 that an individual becomes a person "implicated
or concerned in the subject matter of the inquiry” or that a person's
"conduct ... is the subject of the inquiry", that the person then has the
right pursuant to paragraph 16 to be present personally or to be

represented by counsel or a solicitor, and not before.

69. Accordingly, it 1s difficult to see how at any stage prior to
the Tribunal's determination that an individual is an implicated person
that he or she has any rights of appearance and accordingly has any rights
to make submissions or representations as to whether he or she should be
found to be an implicated person. In our view, paragraph 16 only comes

into operation after the Tribunal has made a determination as to which
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persons (if any) are to be regarded as implicated persons. The words
"shall be entitled to be present in person at any sitting of the Tribunal”

can only have prospective effect.

70. There are other matters which support this conclusion. In
our judgment the intent of the legislature in amending the terms of
paragraph 17 by way of the transitionary provisions in section 80(b) was
not to create a unique and previously unknown procedure but to cure a
specific evil (if that is not too harsh a word). That "evil" was that under
the previous provisions of SIDO there was nothing to prevent a person
being brought into the proceedings after they had commenced and were

underway.

71. The new SFO prohibits that course of action and requires
that a notice under section 252(2) (which is the equivalent of the section
16(2) notice under SIDQ) specify the identity of any person who appears
to have perpetrated any market misconduct (including insider dealing):
Schedule 9, section 13; and that there shall be no amendment of the
identities of such persons specified: Schedule 9, section 15. It restricts
the Tribunal's finding of market misconduct (including insider dealing} to
those persons identified in the original section 252(2) notice: Schedule 9,

section 17.

72, Accordingly the addition of implicated persons during the

course of an inquiry is prohibited by the new legislation. If suspicion
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does fall on a previously unidentified person then the provisions of the
SFO are to the effect that a recommendation may be made by the
Tribunal at the conclusion of the inquiry to the Financial Secretary that a
further inquiry be instituted into that person's conduct: Schedule 9 section
19.

73. In this Tribunal's view, sections 78 and 80 of Schedule 10 to
the New Ordinance attempt to achieve the same result in the transitionary

operation of SIDO.

74. Section 80 of the SFO imports two amendments into SIDO.
Firstly, it allows the Tribunal to recommend to the Financial Secretary
that a further inquiry be instituted into the conduct of any person to
determine whether insider dealing has taken place: section 80(a). And
secondly it, in our view, requires the determination of precisely which
persons are involved as implicated persons at the time of the first sitting

of the Tribunal: section 80(b).

75. The "evil" therefore section 80(a) and (b) together address is
the uncertainty as to who may eventually become an implicated party in
an inquiry and more specifically it prevents people being bought into an
inquiry as implicated persons after that inquiry has commenced, which,
reasonably, may be thought to be potentially unfair, but with an additional
provision allowing the institution of subsequent and separate proceedings

against those persons.
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76. If that is the purpose of section 80(a) and (b), and it seems to
this Tribunal that it is, then the intent of section 80(b) is to require the
Tribunal to make certain at the first sitting the identities of the persons to

be regarded by it as implicated persons.

77. This Tribunal cannot accept that it was the intention of the
legislature to go further than that and turn the first sitting of the Tribunal
(i.e. the preliminary hearing) into a series of preliminary submissions on
the part of individuals or their counsel as to whether or not they should be
considered implicated parties. For one thing as we say it goes against
the plain language of paragraphs 16 and 17 of the Schedule to SIDO to
suggest a person has a right to be heard before he is determined to be an
implicated party. For another it would be most undesirable for the
Tribunal to deal with the pros and cons of a particular individual's case in
a public session before that person was determined to be an implicated
party and before evidence was called. A practical question is how the
parties would know at that stage, in any event, that they should appear.
Should they be served with some form of preliminary Salmon letter?
Mr. Patterson suggests they should be served with "a letter of
mindedness" which informs them that the Tribunal considers they are at
risk of being considered implicated persons. Are all the documents to
be served on them? That would appear to be necessary if they had the
right to make submissions at that stage. Where would the prospective

implicated parties' right to be heard end? Would the prospective
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implicated parties have the right to call evidence at that stage? And if
limits were to be placed upon those individuals right to make submissions
and call evidence where would those limits stem from? There would be
no guidance in the legislation as to where any such supposed right in a

person, not yet an implicated person, to be heard would end.

78. All this would be a wholly new procedure and seems highly
unlikely to have been intended by the amendment to paragraph 17 of the
Schedule to SIDO.

79. If there is any analogous procedure to the issuance of
Salmon letters, it is the signing of a charge sheet before a criminal trial.
There is no right for a defendant to be heard before he is charged. His
rights commence once he is charged and has the legal status of a party to

the criminal proceedings.

80. Further, under the provisions of the new SFO the section
252(2) notice must specify those persons who appear to have been insider
dealers: see sections 13 and 14 of Schedule 9 to the Ordinance. In other
words the Financial Secretary under the new legislation decides who the
"implicated persons” are. No right is given to such persons to make
submissions as to their status in that regard prior to the issue of the
section 252(2) notice. It would be extremely odd if the transitionary

provisions in the new Ordinance (i.e. the SFO) intended to import into
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SIDO a procedure and set of rights which are non-existent in the new

Ordinance.

81. We do not think the amendment to paragraph 17 of the
Schedule to SIDO requires the Tribunal to hear from any person prior to

determining whether they are an implicated party to the inquiry.

82. But regardless of whether anyone has a right to be heard as
to whether or not they should be regarded as implicated parties, does
paragraph 17 as amended now require the Tribunal to actually decide at
its first sitting who the implicated persons are? That is the meaning Mr.

Patterson attaches to the word "determine” in the amended paragraph 17.

83. Again that seems an extremely unlikely intention of the
legislature in amending paragraph 17, even allowing for the provisions of
paragraph 14 which allow a Tribunal to have a "chambers" or a private
sitting. In our view the latter provision is intended to apply only in
exceptional circumstances and not to operate routinely in the course of
the Tribunal deciding who is an implicated party. We might say here
that a sitting is not a meeting. A sitting occurs, other than in exceptional
circumstances in open court. A meeting is not intended to be a court
proceeding. Tt is informal and is organised as a meeting, not as a sitting.
Paragraph 19 of the Schedule to SIDO recognises their different natures.
More fundamentally such meetings (which have been held in most of

these inquiries since the commencement of the legislation) occur prior to
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the issuance of Salmon letters. They are administrative in nature and
their purpose was recognised in Dato Tan Leong Min and the Insider
Dealing Tribunal (1998) 1 HKLRD 630 at 637 per Sears J:

"It is obviously desirable and indeed necessary for the Tribunal
and counsel to meet before the inquiry opens and to discuss the
procedure, relevant lines of inquiry and potential problems and
for the counsel to interview witnesses or investigate various
avenues for importance.”

That position changes once the substantive inquiry begins. Only rarely
thenceforth would a meeting occur in the absence of the implicated
parties. For the purposes of this application we regard the first
preliminary hearing held on the 17" May 2005 as being the first sitting of

the Tribunal.

84. If Mr. Patterson is right in his understanding of the word
"determine" it would mean, assuming that as there are as yet no
implicated parties there are no rights in any party to be heard, that the
Tribunal would at the first preliminary hearing discuss the prima facie
evidence concerning each prospective implicated party in the presence of
anyone who chose to be present, including those persons. In other
words, the Tribunal would be expected to conduct a public sitting of and
discussion amongst its members as to who should become implicated
parties in the presence of various persons some of whom may eventually

become implicated parties.
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85. That seems an undesirable unworkable and unnecessary
procedure particularly if those persons, at that stage have no right to be
heard. If there is no right vested in any person to be heard, what point
would there be in requiring the Tribunal to arrive at its decision as to
whom the implicated parties are during the course of the first sitting

rather than at some previous time?

86. In this Tribunal's view, the amended paragraph 17 simply
means that the Tribunal shall, at the first sitting of the Tribunal (that is the
preliminary hearing), state as a matter of finality who precisely the
implicated parties are for the purpose of the inquiry. The Shorter
Oxford English Dictionary Volume 2 (5* Edition) defines "determine" as

follows:-

"determine from Latin determinare bound, limit.
1. Put an end to: come to an end. [Now chiefly LAW.] Bring to
an end, conclude.

2.  [Now chiefly LAW.] Come to an end,
3. Bound, limit. ... Limit to, restrict to.
4.  Settle or decide

5.

Come to a judicial decision; make or give a decision about

something.”

"Determine” in paragraph 17 is used in the sense of making certain,
stating conclusively or limiting the persons who are implicated in the
inquiry rather than in the sense of actively arriving at a decision. The
persons who are implicated parties were named as such at the first

preliminary hearing of this matter. It matters not that the decision that
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they were to be implicated parties was made before that hearing, so long
as that decision was given at that first sitting. That complied with the

provisions of the amended paragraph 17 of the Schedule to SIDO.

87. This second complaint of Mr. Patterson's fails for those
reasons.
DELAY
88. We turn now to the final of Mr. Patterson's complaints. He

says that there has been considerable delay in this matter and that it
would be unfair to proceed. He asks the Tribunal to take what steps it
can to prevent these proceedings continuing. He is effectively asking

that the proceedings be stayed.

89. As we have said the law applicable to this aspect of Mr.
Patterson's submissions is the common law. The relevant provision in
Article 14(1) of the ICCPR and Article 10 of the Bill of Rights (see above)
is the requirement that these proceedings be "fair". That concept of
fairness is the same as that of the common law. There is an impressive
body of case law as to when the delay of proceedings may render them

unfair,

90. Those cases can be distilled for present purposes into the

following proposition:-
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"the imposition of a permanent stay should be the exception
rather than the rule ... (and)

no stay should be imposed unless the defendant shows on the
balance of probabilities that, owing to the delay, he will suffer
serious prejudice to the extent that no fair trial can be held: in

other words, that the continuance of the prosecution amounts lo

a misuse of the process of the court": Attorney-General's
Reference (No. 1 of 1990) [1992] 1 QB 630 at 644 per Lord
Lane CJ.

(emphasis added)

91. In our view if that is a statement of the law as it applies to
criminal offences then the hurdle cannot be sensibly set lower in
proceedings such as the present. That statement of the law by Lord

Lane CJ will be applied by this Tribunal to the present application.

92. Mr. Patterson is right that there has been delay. The events
the section 16(2) notice requires us to inquire into occurred in February
2000. That is now five years six months ago (though the last two
months have been taken up with various arguments and matters of
disclosure relating to these applications). That, in the view of this
Tribunal, is a most undesirable period of delay between events and any
inquiry into them. And unfortunately the present inquiry is not an
exception to the rule. For some time past a delay of about five years and
sometimes more has elapsed between the events the subject of a section
16(2) notice and the issue of Salmon letters in inquiries conducted by the

Divisions of the Insider Dealing Tribunal.
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93. Mr. Patterson also complains that as a part of this delay the
section 16(2) notice which triggered the constitution of this Tribunal and
the inquiry into these events was issued to a Chairman of the Tribunal on,
or shortly after, the 28" October 2003. He says that his clients (as with
the other implicated parties) were not aware that any inquiry was to take
place, or that they were implicated parties until the service of Salmon
letters in April 2005. That is some 17 months after the date of issue of

the section 16(2) notice.

94. Again, unfortunately the time period between the issue of a
section 16(2) notice and the service of Salmon letters has expanded over

recent years in respect of most cases to a period of a year or more.

9s5. It appears these delays, which have slowly increased over
time, were caused by an increase in the number of cases which the

Tribunal and Department of Justice received at the end of 2003.

96. We will deal firstly with Mr. Patterson's complaints
regarding his clients (and the other implicated parties) not being notified
of their status. He says it is wholly wrong for an implicated party not to
be notified of the issuance of a section 16(2) notice concerning them for a
period of 17 months after its issue. He suggests that any person named
in a section 16(2) notice should be notified as soon after its issue as is

possibie.
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97. He may be right that in some circumstances that is an
appropriate course of action. But we do not think that in this case or in
most cases it would be practical to notify implicated parties of the
issuance of a section 16(2) notice immediately. For one thing, the notice
does not purport to name the implicated parties. They have yet to be
decided. A section 16(2) notice names only those individuals whose
share trading is to be the subject of an inquiry. They may or may not
become implicated parties. Other persons who do become implicated
parties are not named and cannot be named until the Tribunal has been
constituted and its members have appointed counsel assisting and have
been served with the inquiry materials and had an opportunity to read
those materials, that is the various witness statements and interviews, and
examine the documents, then meet with counsel assisting and decide
which of the various individuals referred to in those materials are to be
considered as implicated parties and will accordingly be issued with

Salmon letters (which include the terms of the section 16(2) notice).

8. No doubt that process could be hastened and be conducted in
a timeframe of less than the 17 months it took in the present inquiry.
But it should be remembered that this process is usually conducted during
the course of another inquiry. No Salmon letters can be issued without
the appointment of lay members and the constitution of the Tribunal.
Lay members can only be appointed with some specific hearing timetable
in mind, they cannot be appointed and then be expected to be available at

large ready to sit whenever at some future time the inquiry is to begin.
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For that reason a compromise has to be arrived at, where members are
best appointed to new inquiries only once the end of a currently
proceeding inquiry is in view and the dates for the new inquiry can be set

with some (though far from complete) certainty.

99. It should be borne in mind that a section 16(2) notice is not a
charge sheet. It is a direction to a Chairman institute an inquiry. We
do not accept that there is any relationship between a section 16(2) notice
and a criminal charge. As MA JA (as he then was) said in Riady - v -
Insider Dealing Tribunal (2003) 2 HKC 10:-

"Terms of reference for Insider Dealing Tribunals are not charge
sheets or indictments or even, in civil terms, pleadings. They
are, as the phrase suggests, the terms of reference of the inquiry
to be conducted by an Insider Dealing Tribunal."

Accordingly, the authorities Mr. Patterson urged upon us relating to delay
between the charging and trial of defendants in criminal trials have no
bearing on the question of delay in this case. It is, if anything, the
Salmon letters which approximate a charge sheet although the analogy is
tenuous. In our judgment, no additional or special prejudice attaches to
an implicated party because they were not immediately informed of the

issuance of a section 16(2) notice.

100. Therefore, the relevant consideration is solely whether the
implicated parties can have a fair hearing given the period of delay which

has elapsed since the date of the events the subject of the inquiry.
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101. It is not suggested in this case that the delay was deliberate
or in any way caused other than by institutional matters, that is the time
required to investigate and prepare a complex commercial matter for
hearing, and by the volume of inquiries coming before this Tribunal for

hearing and the processing time of those inquiries.

102. In our view the real issue, given that there was delay, is
whether the delay which did occur was such as to so prejudice the
implicated party's position as to require this Tribunal to regard further
proceedings as unfair and to take what steps in law it is able to take so as

to bring the present proceedings to an end.

103. Mr. Patterson argues that the fact of delay in these
proceedings is by itself and without proof of prejudice to any party
sufficient to render these proceedings unfair and an abuse of process if
they were to continue. We do not think that proposition can be correct
under either the provisions of Article 14(1) or Article 11 or the common
law, which for our purposes are identical (see above). It may be that the
period of delay complained of in some cases (but we do not think the
present one) is so long that a presumption of prejudice can arise. The
law is clear. The relevance of delay to a fair hearing is the effect it has
on that hearing. Has evidence been lost? Has an available defence or

explanation been rendered less potent? Have memories faded to an
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extent that the evidence to be called could not sensibly be regarded as

reliable?

104. In the view of this Tribunal the applicants must satisfy us
that the present hearing if it proceeds with them as implicated parties
would be unfair. In the circumstances of the present inquiry that means
they must point to some prejudice suffered by them as a result of the

period of delay.

105. We bear in mind that the present proceedings are the
equivalent of a reasonably complex commercial trial. It is not unusual
in this jurisdiction for such trials to be heard after five years or more have

clapsed. Such cases require considerable investigation and preparation.

106. Nevertheless it is true that five and a half years have elapsed
since the events the subject of this proceeding took place. While that is
a substantial period of time and while there is no doubt that the detail and
clarity of those events will to some extent have faded in the recollection
of witnesses called in the course of the present inquiry we do not believe
that it is so long a period as to undermine witnesses' recollections to a

degree as to render the proceedings unfair.

107. Although individuals vary, in our experience events of other
than a trivial nature can be remembered reasonably adequately over that

period of time. That is particularly so when in most cases the witness,
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whether an implicated party or otherwise, made a statement to or was
interviewed by an SFC officer shortly after the events and the record of
that statement is still available both to the witness and the Tribunal.
Many complex criminal commercial cases have gone to trial many more
years after their events than the present proceedings and the evidence
given was sufficiently reliable to found convictions before juries.
Further, the period of delay is a matter which can be taken into account in
a commonsense way in assessing a witness's credibility and reliability in

determining the facts of the case.

108. Importantly a large part of the evidence which will be placed
before the Tribunal is documentary, and those documents are themselves
in large part commercial in nature from sources such as banks, securities
firms and other commercially orientated institutions which keep their
records for a minimum of seven years. Any such document required for

these proceedings which has not already been obtained is still available.

109. For the purposes of the present applications we place no
weight on the affirmation of Becky CHONG so far as that affirmation
says she has little or no recollection of the events we are to inquire into.
In our view it is far too early to know or decide how much Becky
CHONG (or indeed any other witness) can or cannot remember. We

will however regard her evidence afresh in due course.
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110. No other specific matter of prejudice is relied upon by Mr.
Patterson. Accordingly we do not think any material prejudice has been
occasioned to the applicants, or any other implicated party by the period

of delay and this last ground of complaint cannot succeed.

111. Accordingly, Mr. Patterson's applications are dismissed and

the inquiry will proceed as presently constituted.

Signed
(The Hon. Mr. Justice McMahon)
Judge of the Court of First Instance
& Chairman of the Insider Dealing Tribunal

Signed Signed
(Professor LAM Kin) (NG Tze Kin, David)
Member Member
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BETWEEN
LAU LUEN HUNG THOMAS Applicant

and

THE INSIDER DEALING TRIBUNAL 1™ Respondent

THE FINANCIAL SECRETARY 2" Respondent

Before: Hon Lam J. and Hon Reyes J. in Court

Dates of Hearing: 3 and 4 January 2006

Date of Judgment: 4 January 2006

Date of Handing Down Reasons for Judgment: 13 J anuary 2006

JUDGMENT

Hon Reyes J (giving the reason for judgment of the Court):-

I Introduction

1. These 2 applications concern the constitution and procedures
of the Insider Dealing Tribunal (IDT). They have been heard together as
they raise similar issues. HCAL 116/2005 relates to dealings by Charles
and Becky Chong (brother and sister) in the shares of Vanda Systems and
Communications Holdings Ltd. in 2000. HCAL 122/2005 relates to
dealings by Thomas Lau in the shares of Asia Orient Holdings Ltd. (AOH)
in 1999.
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2. Lau and the Chongs challenge the manner in which the
tribunals to hear their respective cases were constituted. They also question
the procedure by which those tribunals “determined” them to be persons
implicated in possible insider dealing. It is additionally claimed that there
has been such delay in the convening of the tribunals that there can no
longer be fair trials. It is further alleged that the handling of another insider
dealing inquiry (relating to the Chongs’ trading of Harbour Ring
International Ltd. shares in 2000) prejudices the fair hearing of the Vanda

Inquiry.

3. The Applicants say that, in all the circumstances, there should
be a permanent stay of the proceedings before their respective tribunals.
The Applicants applied to their tribunals for such stays. Their applications

were refused. The Applicants now seek judicial review of those refusals.

4. Having heard both applications last week, we dismissed them.

We state our reasons for so doing in this Judgment.

II.  Background
A The Vanda Inquiry

5. Between February 2000 and August 2002 the Securities and
Futures Commission (SFC) investigated suspected insider dealing by the
Chongs in Vanda’s shares. As part of its investigation, the SFC
interviewed Becky on 26 July 2001 and Charles on 14 August 2001. The
SFC referred the results of its Vanda investigations to the Financial

Secretary (FS) on 28 August 2002.
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6. At the same time, the SFC looked into suspected insider |
dealing by the Chongs in Harbour Ring shares. On this, the SFC

questioned Becky on 17 August 2000 and Charles on 7 September 2000.
The SFC passed its conclusions on Harbour Ring to the FS on
25 September 2003.

7. The FS has power under the Securities (Insider Dealing)
Ordinance (Cap.395) (SIDO) s.16(2) to require the Insider Dealing
Tribunal (IDT) to inquire into possible insider dealing., Exercising such
power, on 25 September 2003 the FS directed that a division of the IDT
inquire into whether the Chongs (among others) had engaged in insider
trading of Harbour Ring shares. On 28 October 2003 the FS directed a
division of the IDT to look into possible insider dealing by the Chongs in

Vanda shares.

8. In October and November 2003 the IDT asked the Department
of Justice (DOJ) to supply synopses and dramatis personae relating to the
Vanda and Harbour Ring cases. The documents were requested to enable
the IDT quickly to grasp the issues in the Vanda and Harbour Ring
Inquiries. The documents would also help in identifying the persons
involved and so assist the IDT to appoint tribunal members who would not
have a conflict in relation to the subject matter of an inquiry. The DOJ

forwarded the requested documents to the IDT in early February 2004

9. By letter to the DOJ dated 23 December 2004, the Chairman
of the IDT’s 2nd division (McMahon J) said that he intended to start the
Vanda Inquiry in May/June 2005. Before constituting a tribunal for the
matter, the Chairman asked whether the DOJ anticipated any problems with

his proposed time frame. Mr. Wesley Wong (Senior Assistant Law Officer
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(Civil Law) at the DQJ) replied on 30 December 2004 that, in light of the
suggested dates, the DOJ was thinking of recommending Mr. Peter Duncan
SC and Mr. Dick Ho (Senior Government Counsel (Ag)) to act as counsel
for the Vanda tribunal. The IDT later confirmed that the Chairman had no

objection to Mr. Duncan’s appointment.

10. On 18 January 2005 the IDT informed the ICAC that the
Chairman was intending to appoint Mr. David Ng Tse Kin as a member for
the Vanda tribunal. The IDT requested that Mr, David Ng be vetted for
any security problems. On 9 March 2005 the IDT made a similar request
of the ICAC in respect of the appointment of Professor Lam Kin as a

tribunal member.

11. On 19 January 2005 Mr. Ho wrote to the IDT that the
Secretary for Justice had nominated him to act as counsel for the Vanda
tribunal.

12. On 4 March 2005 the IDT requested that witness statements be

provided as soon as possible. This was because the Chairman envisaged an
initial preliminary hearing in late April 2005 with the substantive inquiry
starting in May 2005. Mr. Ho sent paginated bundles of witness statements
on 12 March 2005.

13. On 8 March 2005 the IDT asked Mr. Ho to consider whether it
was possible or desirable for the Vanda and Harbour Ring Inquiries to be
heard together, given similar factual backgrounds and the involvement of

the same individuals in both cases.
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14. On 11 March 2005 the Chairman nominated Mr. David Ng
and Professor Lam to act as lay members of the Vanda tribunal. The IDT
requested the Government’s Financial Services and Treasury Bureau
(FSTB) to arrange for formal appointments by the FS pursuant to SIDO
5.15(2). The FS appointed both persons to the Vanda tribunal by letters
dated 18 March 2005.

15. Towards the end of March 2005, the Vanda tribunal appointed
Mr. Duncan and Mr. Ho as its counsel,

16. On 31 March and 8 April 2005 the Vanda tribunal met with its
counsel.
17. The 31 March meeting lasted for 50 minutes. It was there

decided to send Salmon A letters to the Chongs and 9 other persons.

18. Salmon A letters are sent to persons who are thought by an
IDT to have engaged in possible insider dealing. Such individuals are
sometimes referred to as “implicated persons”. Salmon B letters, on the
other hand, are sent to persons who are not believed to have engaged in
insider dealing, but who may be asked to give evidence or who may be

adversely affected by an inquiry’s findings.

15, The 8 April meeting lasted for 100 minutes. The meeting
confirmed that Salmon A letters would be sent to the Chongs and the
9 others. It was further decided to send Salmon B letters to 2 persons. The
tribunal resolved to consider later whether 3 more persons (the 3 others)

should also be included as potentially implicated persons and sent Salmon
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A letters. The tribunal approved draft Salmon A and B letters previously
provided by Mr. Ho to the Chairman.

20. In the course of the 8 April meeting the Chairman referred to
the Harbour Ring Inquiry. He observed that what he said about the
Harbour Ring was confidential. He expressed concern that the latter case
would be “quite old” before it could be heard by the IDT.

21. By Salmon A letters dated 11 April 2005 the Chongs were
informed that they were the subject of the forthcoming Vanda Inquiry by
the IDT. The letters stated:-

“The Inquiry has been convened as a result of an investigation by
the [SFC] into the affairs of [Vanda], which brought to light
evidence which suggests you may have been an insider dealer.
The Tribunal has determined that your conduct will be the subject
of the Inquiry and that you are potentially implicated or
concerned in the subject matter of the Inquiry.”

22, The letters asked the Chongs to appear before the IDT at a
preliminary public hearing on 17 May 2005. Prior to receipt of their
Salmon A letters, the Chongs had been unaware that the dealings in Vanda

were to be examined by the IDT.

23. On 13 April 2003, the Vanda tribunal informed Mr. Ho that,
having considered materials provided by the FS, there was not enough
evidence to establish to a high degree of probability that the 3 others had
engaged in insider trading. The tribunal decided that no other Salmon A

letters were needed in the Vanda Inquiry.

24, On 20 April 2005 the IDT sent a draft press release on the
Vanda Inquiry to the FSTB.
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25. On 17 May 2005 the preliminary public hearing of the Vanda
Inquiry took place.
26. On 31 May 2005 there was a 2nd public hearing of the Vanda

Inquiry. Mr. Kevin Patterson (then acting for the Chongs) there applied for
a permanent stay. That application was heard over subsequent sittings of
the tribunal.

27. On 8 July 2005 the Chongs were informed that the IDT had
been asked by the FS to look into their dealings in 2000 in Harbour Ring
shares. At about this time, the Chongs also learned that Mr. Vincent Kwan
Po Chuen and Mr. Louis Fung Kai Lin had been appointed as lay members
to hear the Harbour Ring Inquiry with Deputy High Court Judge Saunders
(by then Chairman of the IDT’s 3" division).

28. On 9 August 2005, in a detailed Ruling, the Vanda tribunal

rejected the Chongs’ application for a permanent stay.

B. The AOH Inquiry

29. From around December 1999 to October 2001 the SFC
investigated suspected insider dealing by Lau in AOH shares. The SFC

then communicated its views to the FS.

30. On 15 May 2003 the FS asked a division of the IDT to look
into possible insider trading by Lau in AOH shares between 14 and
20 September 1999.
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31. On 24 June 2003 Mr. Herbert Li (Deputy Principal
Government Counsel (Ag) at the DOJ) informed the FSTB that he was
preparing a case synopsis in anticipation of a request from the Chairman of
the IDT division being convened to hear the AOH Inquiry.. The Chairman
of the IDT’s (3rd division) (then Lugar-Mawson J) formally requested such
synopsis by letter to Mr. Li dated 31 October 2003. Mr. Li sent the

synopsis with a dramatis personae on 26 November 2003.

32. By letter dated 27 November 2003 the Chairman asked Mr. Li

to nominate counsel to act for the AOH tribunal.

33. The Chairman commenced interviewing possible lay members
for the AOH tribunal in December 2003. He eventually decided to

nominate Mr. Nigel Bacon and Mr. Eric Ng. Accordingly, on 21 January
2004, he asked the ICAC to check their backgrounds.

34. On 3 February 2004 the IDT confirmed to the FSTB that
Mr. Bacon and Mr. Eric Ng had been cleared by the ICAC and the
Chairman wished them to sit on the AOH tribunal. The IDT observed that
“ltlhe Chairman finds that their wealth of experience in their respective

field makes them suited to hear the present case”.

35. The FS formally appointed Mr. Bacon and Mr. Eric Ng to the
AOH tribunal by letters dated 19 April 2004.

36. On 21 June 2004 the IDT asked Mr. Wesley Wong (Senior
Assistant Law Officer (Civil Law)) at the DOJ) to recommend counsel for
the AOH tribunal. The DOJ nominated Mr. Li on 14 July 2004 and he was
appointed by the tribunal as its counsel on 17 August 2004. Mr. Andrew

M
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Bruce SC was appointed as leading counsel for the tribunal on 18 January
2005.

37. On 13 January 2005 the IDT wrote to Mr. Li:-

“The Tribunal has considered both the Synopsis and Dramatis
Personae in respect of the inquiry and reached a decision that
Thomas Law Luen Hung is the only implicated person and to be
served a Salmon Letter. Please let me have the draft of the
Salmon Letter with 2 summary of evidence as soon as possible.”

38. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Li provided the IDT with a draft

Salmon A letter.

39. Until receipt of the Salmon letter, Lau did not know that his
transactions in AQH shares were to be the subject matter of an insider

dealing inquiry.

40. The finalised letter was sent to Lau on 28 January 2005. It
read (in part):-

“The Tribunal has determined that you are implicated or
concerned in the subject matter of the Inquiry and that your
conduct in relation to the dealings in the listed securities of the
company as described in the notice will be one of the subjects of
the Inquiry.”

41. The letter also stated that a preliminary public hearing would
take place on 28 February 2005.

42. On 15 February 2005 the IDT sent a draft press release on the
AOH Inquiry to FSTB.
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43. By letter dated 21 February 2005 Messrs. Sit Fung Kwong &
Shum (SFKS) (the Applicants’ solicitors) queried whether it was
appropriate for Mr. Eric Ng to hear the case. SFKS wrote:-

“We note that Mr. NG Kwok-hai has been appointed as a member
of the Tribunal. He was of course a member of the Tribunal
chaired by Hartmann J, which sat in the Chinese estates Insider
Dealing Inquiry to hear allegations against Mr. Joseph LAU, the
brother of our client Mr. Thomas LAU. Our client was a matenial
witness in that earlier inquiry. It is also a matter of public record
that the Tribunal’s ultimate finding in the Chinese Estates Insider
Dealing Inquiry, whilst favourable to Mr. Joseph LAU, was a
majority decision (i.e. one member dissented). In view of these
facts, we would be obliged in you would confirm by return
whether or not Mr. NG Kwok-wai is the member who dissented
in the earlier inquiry. We would also appreciate being advised
when Mr NG was first appointed as a member of the [IDT], of the
number of insider dealing inquiries in which he has sat as a
member of the Tribunal and, how is it that he was appointed to
hear a second inquiry into the alleged conduct of a member of the
LAU family. We await hearing from you.”

44, The issue of Mr. Eric Ng’s suitability to sit as a member of the
AOQH Inquiry tribunal was raised at the preliminary hearing on 28 February
2005. Having heard submissions from counsel and after discussing the
matter with Judge Saunders (who had succeeded Lugar-Mawson J as
Chairman in November 2004), Mr. Eric Ng decided to resign from the IDT.

He tendered his resignation to the Chief Executive (CE) accordingly.

45, The Chairman then recommended to the FS that Mr. Pang Hon
Chung replace Mr. Eric Ng. Mr. Pang was eventually appointed to act as a
temporary member of the IDT on 1 April 2005. The appointment was
made by the F'S as the delegate of the power conferred on the CE by SIDO
Schedule §8.
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46. On 14 April 2005, at a resumed hearing of the tribunal, Lau by
his counsel challenged the constitutionality of the AOH Inquiry. Lau

sought a permanent stay of the proceedings.

47. On 11 August 2005 the AOH tribunal held that its inquiry was
validly constituted. The application for a stay was rejected.

III.  Discussion

A The issues

48. Mr. McCoy SC (appearing for the Applicants) has identified

the following issues:-

(1) Whether the Vanda and AOH tribunals are “independent and
impartial tribunals established by law” within the meaning of
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)
art.14(1) and Hong Kong Bill of Rights Ordinance (Cap.383)
(HKBORO) art.10.

(2) Whether the Applicants had a right to be heard at the first
public hearing of their respective tribunals on whether they

should be “implicated persons”.

(3) Whether Mr. Eric Ng’s involvement as a member of the AOH
tribunal gave rise to apparent bias and (if so) whether that
tribunal’s “determination” at its first sitting that Ng was an

“implicated person” was invalid.

(4) Whether the CE had properly delegated to the FS the power to
appoint temporary members (such as Mr. Pang) to the IDT.
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(5) Whether there has been a breach of ICCPR art.14(3) and
HKBORO art.11(2) insofar as the Applicants:-

(a) were not promptly informed that they were the subject of

an insider dealing inquiry; and,
(b) are being tried after a period of undue delay.

(6) Whether the Vanda and AOH Inquiries should be permanently
stayed.

B.  Issue 1: Whether independent and impartial tribunals

49, Basic Law art.39 incorporates the ICCPR into Hong Kong law.
ICCPR art.14(1) provides that in the determination of criminal charges or
civil suits a person shall be entitled to a fair and public hearing by a
“competent, independent and impartial tribunal established by law”.

HKBOROQO art.10 is in similar terms.

50. There is no dispute that ICCPR art.14(1) and HKBORO
art.10 apply to an IDT. The tribunal must not only be, but be seen to be,
independent and impartial.

5L Nor is there any dispute about the tests for impartiality and
independence. Although impartiality and independence are not wholly
synonymous, the tests for assessing the existence of the two qualities are

essentially the same.

52. The Court asks itself in effect whether, having considered the
facts, a fair-minded and informed observer, would conclude that there was
a real possibility that a tribunal was biased. See Porter v. Magill [2002]
2 AC 357 (HL) (at §103); Sun Honest Development Ltd. v. Appeal Tribunal
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(Buildings) [2005] 2 HKC 582 (CA) (at §8); R. v. Genereux (1992) 88 DLR
(4th) 110 (SCC) (at 130c-g).

53. As a practical guide to applying this test of the fair-minded
bystander, we have found it helpful to bear in mind Kirby J’s dictum in
Johnson v. Johnson (2000) 201 CLR 488 (HCA) (at §§52-53):-

“The attributes of the fictitious bystander to whom courts defer
have therefore been variously stated. Such a person is not a
lawyer. Yet neither is he or she a person wholly uninformed and
uninstructed about the law in general or the issue to be decided.
Being reasonable and fair-minded, the bystander, before making a
decision important to the parties and the community, would
ordinarily be taken to have sought to be informed on at least the
most basic considerations relevant to arriving at a conclusion
founded on a fair understanding of all the relevant circumstances.
The bystander would be taken to know commonplace things, such
as the fact that adjudicators sometimes say, or do, things that they
might later wish they had not, without necessarily disqualifying
themselves from continuing to exercise their powers. The
bystander must also now be taken to have, at least in a very
general way, some knowledge of the fact that an adjudicator may
properly adopt reasonable efforts to confine proceedings within
appropriate limits and to ensure thar time is not wasted. The
fictitious bystander will also be aware of the sirong professional
pressures on adjudicators (reinforced by the facilities of appeal
and review) to uphold traditions of integrity and impartiality.
Acting reasonably, the fictitious bystander would not reach a
hasty conclusion based on the appearance evoked by an isolated
episode of temper or remarks to the parties or their
representatives, which was taken out of context. Finally, a
reasonable member of the public is neither complacent nor
unduly sensitive or suspicious.”

54. The Applicants submit that a fair-minded observer could not
regard the Vanda and AOH tribunals as “independent and impartial” for the

following reasons:-

(1) An IDT has no judicial independence because of the way in

which its lay members are appointed.
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(2) The 2 lay tribunal members neither enjoy security of tenure

nor financial security.

(3) Counsel for the Vanda and AOH tribunals do not have the
appearance of impartiality.

55. To evaluate the Applicants’ criticisms, we first set out the
structure of an IDT and explain how an IDT is generally convened. We
then examine each of the Applicants’ criticisms against the particular

tribunals convened here.

B.1  The structure of IDTs

56. SIDO was repealed on 1 April 2003. A newly established
Market Misconduct Tribunal has since taken over the IDT’s functions. But
an amended version of SIDO remains in effect in respect of insider trading
which may have occurred before 1 April 2003. The present applications

concern the constitution of IDTs under that amended version of SIDO.

57. The IDT’s constitution is set out in SIDO s.15 and the
Schedule thereto.
58. The IDT sits in divisions. There are currently 3 divisions. A

* tribunal consists of a division Chairman and 2 lay members.

59, The Chairman is appointed by the CE on the Chief Justice’s
recommendation. He must be a judge. He is appointed for a term of not
more than 3 years or ad hoc in relation to a given inquiry or inquiries. He

may be re-appointed.
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60. Lay members are appointed by the FS. They may not be
public officers. By SIDO Schedule §2, they are appointed in relation to
any specific inquiry or inquiries. They may be appointed more than once.
By SIDO s.15(4), they may be paid “such amount as the [FS] thinks fit” for

their services.

61. A member of a tribunal (including the Chairman) may resign
by tendering written notice to the CE. Otherwise, a lay member may only
be removed from office by the CE for incapacity, bankruptcy, neglect of

duty or misconduct proved to the CE’s satisfaction.

62. By SIDO Schedule §8, the CE may appoint a temporary

member to act in place of any tribunal member who is:-

“precluded by illness, absence from Hong Kong or any other
cause from exercising his functions or who considers it improper
or undesirable that he should exercise his functions in relation to
any specified matter”.

63. A tribunal sits as the Chairman thinks necessary for the
efficient performance of its functions. All members must be present at a
sitting. Questtons before the tribunal are determined by majority opinion,

save that questions of law are decided by the Chairman.

64. By SIDO Schedule §18, a tribunal “may appoint a legal officer
nominated by the Secretary for Justice, a barrister or a solicitor to act as
counsel”.

63. SIDO Schedule §§14, 16, 17 and 19 govern sittings of the

tribunal. They provide as follows:-
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“14. Every sitting of the Tribunal shall be held in public unless
the Tribunal considers that in the interests of justice a
sitting or any part thereof should not be held in public in
which case it may hold the sitting or part thereof in private.

16. A person whose conduct is the subject of an inquiry or
who is implicated, or concerned in the subject matter of an
inquiry shall be entitled to be present in person at any
sitting of the Tribunal relating to that inquiry and to be
represented by a barrister or solicitor.

17. For the purposes of paragraph 16 the Tribunal shall
determine at the first sitting of the Tribunal relating to the
inquiry whether the conduct of any person is the subject of
the inquiry or whether a person is in any way implicated
or concerned in the subject matter of the inquiry.

19. In paragraph 16 ‘sitting’ does not include any meeting of
the Tribunal which is held for the purpose of deliberating
on any question before the Tribunal.”

B.2  The convening of IDTs

66. Upon receipt of representations from the SFC, the FS
considers whether to direct the IDT to look into alleged insider trading. If
he decides that the matter should be investigated, he sends a notice to the
Chairman of an IDT division. The notice is sent pursuant to SIDO s.16(2).

It defines an IDT inquiry’s terms of reference.

67. At the same time, the FS forwards the dossiers of evidence
which the SFC has compiled on the case to the section of the DOJ’s Civil

Division handling insider dealing.

68. On receipt of the FS’ notice, the relevant division Chairman
considers whom to nominate as lay members for a tribunal, As a matter of

practice, he consults a list of persons willing to act as members of an IDT.
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69. That list is kept by the FS’ office and the IDT has copies of the
list. But it is unknown how and by whom the names on the list were
compiled. The list is apparently updated from time to time, although it is
unclear by whom, how or at what intervals. There are no published criteria

for getting one’s name on or off the list.

70. The practice of consulting the list for potential lay members

appears to have been followed by successive IDT Chairmen over the years.

71. Having selected possible lay members, the Chairman arranges
to interview them. As a matter of practice, he requests the section of the
DOJ which handles insider dealing to prepare a synopsis and dramatis
personae on the subject maiter of the forthcoming inquiry. The Synopsis
and dramatis personae are intended to help the Chairman rapidly to grasp
the relevant facts and thereby assess whether a potential lay member has

any conflict of interest.

72. Counsel at the DOJ prepares the synopsis and dramatis
personae on the basis of the dossiers of evidence which the FS has
previously forwarded. Counsel then sends the synopsis and dramatis

personae to the IDT.

73. When interviewing potential members, the Chairman also
ascertains their likely availability. He may show them the synopsis and
dramatis personae in confidence and ask whether they have any conflict of

interest.

74, Having decided on 2 possible lay members, the Chairman asks

the ICAC to run a security check on them. If those individuals are cleared
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by the ICAC, the Chairman invites the FS formally to appoint them as

tribunal members for the relevant inquiry.

75. Although he has a discretion to reject the Chairman’s
nominations, in practice the FS appoints the members nominated by an IDT
Chairman.

76. Once constituted, the tribunal appoints its counsel. It will then

meet with its counsel to identify the persons to whom Salmon A and B
letters should be sent. There may be other meetings with counsel to

consider administrative matters and possible lines of inquiry.

71. Following the issue of Salmon A and B letters, the tribunal
holds its first public meeting in accordance with SIDO Schedule §§16, 17
and 18.

B.3  Criticism 1: Flawed appointment of lay members

78. The Applicants’ case on this has not been consistent.

79. In its Skeleton, the Applicants suggested that it was
“constitutionally objectionable” for the tribunal’s 2 lay members to be
appointed by the FS. This was because (according to the Applicants) in an
insider trading inquiry “the FS’s role is akin to a prosecutorial role like that

of the Secretary of Justice in a criminal prosecution”.

80. But, at the hearing before us, Mr. McCoy SC (appearing for
the Applicants) disavowed the case advanced in his Skeleton. He

submitted that there was nothing wrong in the FS appointing lay members.
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The statutory scheme (Mr. McCoy said) was constitutionally acceptable

and perfectly workable. Mr. McCoy had no complaint about the IDT’s

structure as stipulated in SIDO.

81.

Instead, Mr. McCoy attacked the particular manner in which

the AOH and Vanda tribunals had been established. Those tribunals

(Mr. McCoy contended) had been convened following bad practice.

82.

According to Mr. McCoy, the following are elements of the

bad practice followed in the Vanda and AOH Inquiries:-

()

2)

3)

There was a lack of transparency (utmost or otherwise) in the
way the list of potential lay members was compiled and
updated. The public has a right to know who is on the list and
on what basis their names come to be there. But despite
constant pressing of the FS by the Applicants, the genesis of
the list remains (Mr. McCoy says) shrouded in darkness.

It was undesirable that a Chairman recommended lay members
for an IDT to the FS. A High Court judge (apart possibly from
the Chief Justice or Chief Judge of the High Court) should not
be allowed (or be required) to choose with whom he sat. A
judge is only human. Consciously or not, he is prone to
choose like-minded persons to sit with him. It is true that “in
theory” the FS retained a discretion to veto the Chairman’s

nominees. But in practice the FS never did that,

It was invidious for a Chairman to interview potential lay
members. As triers of fact, lay members are of “equal status

with the Chairman”. But the interview process occasions “an
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impression that the members ... feel inferior to the Chairman

and would nore easily succumb to the view of the Chairman”,

It was invidious that the Chairman should ask the ICAC to vet
his lay member nominees. The judiciary should not have any

contact with the executive on such a matter.

The way that the Chairman selected lay members for a tribunal
(including his communications with the ICAC and the FS)
gives the impression that “the Chairman equate{s] himself with
an official in a Government Department under the FS”. The
appearance of independence between the executive and

judiciary branches is fatally eroded.

An analysis of the names of lay members who have sat in
recent [DTs shows that a few persons have sat 2, 3 or even
more times, while others have sat only once. This could not be
a mere chance happening. It suggests that the FS or various
Chairmen select the same few people over and over again.
This shows that the system of selection is subject to arbitrary
whim. It is not something transparent and objective,
established by law. Oun the contrary, there is a distinct
possibility that members are appointed to IDTs on the basis of
past performance. The more frequently they favour

Govermnment, the more often they sit.

Having criticised the practice followed in setting up the Vanda

and AOH Inquiries, Mr. McCoy explained how the statutory scheme in

SIDO might properly operate. He submitted that a procedure with proper

safeguards would run along the following lines:-



Ak -

(1)

2

(3)

(4)
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It was acceptable for the FS to compile a list of potential lay
members. But the criteria for getting on or off that list would
have to be published. The names of persons on the list would
have to be gazetted from time to time. The list would be in the

form of a roster.

The appropriate time to have a person vetted by the ICAC

would be before his name went on the list, not afterwards.

When the FS thought that there should be an inquiry into
possible insider dealing, he would inform the Chairman of an
IDT division accordingly by a s.16(2) Notice. At the same
time, the FS would appoint as members for the forthcoming
tribunal the next 2 available persons on the roster who are not

in positions of conflict.

Subject to availability and having no conflict, the persons on
the list would sit on a tribunal as and when their name came up

on the roster in strict rotation.

There would be no interviews of possible lay members by the
Chairman and there would be no requests by the Chairman for
vetting by the ICAC. The Chairman would have no discretion

as to who might sit with him as tribunal members.

We are not persuaded by Mr. McCoy’s submissions. We

make 5 observations.

85.

First, Mr. McCoy’s proposed system may or may not be a

good way of implementing the framework for IDTs in SIDO. Let us

suppose that it is a good way. It does not follow that it is the only

acceptable method of convening an IDT.
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86. Any system can always be improved, especially with the
benefit of hindsight. Even if the system sketched out by Mr. McCoy were
a superior procedure, it does not mean that the one actually followed for the
Vanda and AOH Inquiries would give rise to a perception of bias in a fair-

minded observer.

87. Second, Mr. McCoy may be right in submitting that the list
and the criteria for inclusion in or exclusion from it should be published.
As a matter of open government, the public may well be entitled to know

more about the list.

88. But we do not see how the lack of information about the list
could have any impact on a reasonable observer’s perception of the
impartiality of the Vanda and AOH tribunals. However the lay members of
the 2 tribunals were appointed, the reality is that the Applicants could
always object to them specifically, if they truly believed that the lay

members were actually or apparently biased.

89. The fact is that, theoretical considerations about the general
practice of appointment apart, the Chongs have no actual objection to
Mr. David Ng and Professor Lam. There is no hint of evidence that these
two members are biased or even have the appearance of being so. There is
nothing to suggest that Mr. David Ng or Professor Lam would be anything
otherwise than independent and forthright in the expression of their views

within the tribunal.

50. On the other hand, Lau objected to Mr. Eric Ng’s presence on

the tribunal. We examine below in connection with Issue 3 whether there
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was at law any basis for Lau’s allegation of the appearance of bias. For

now, assume that there was some basis.

91. Lau’s challenge was successful. It prompted Mr. Eric Ng to
resign and to be replaced by Mr. Pang. The result is now that, again
abstract considerations about the practice of appointment apart, Lau has no
real objection to Mr. Pang sitting as a member of the AOH tribunal. There
is no hint of any lack of independence, impartiality or competence on the

part of Mr. Pang.

92. Now apply the fair-minded observer test. Bearing in mind that
the Applicants are unable to point to anything specific in the backgrounds
of their lay members to impugn their suitability, we do not see how the
Applicants could reasonably harbour any doubt that Professor Lam,
Mr. David Ng, Mr. Bacon and Mr. Pang would be otherwise than impartial

or independent.

93. As a reality check, it is instructive to compare the present

situation with that in Morris v. UK (2002) 34 EHRR (cited by Mr. McCoy).

94, In Morris M was tried before a district court martial. Two
members of the court were junior officers (with no legal training) appointed
on an ad hoc basis. They expected to (and did) return to regular army life
after the hearing. They were themselves subject to army discipline at all
times. There was no statutory bar to their being influenced by the army
while sitting as members. The court’s decision was subject to review by a
non-judicial “reviewing authority”. Everything considered, the European
Court of Human Rights held that the court martial could not be regarded as

an independent and impartial tribunal established by law.
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9s. We are miles away from a Morris situation in this case.
96. Whether one thinks in terms of impartiality or independence,

Morris involves a classic conflict of interest. In Morris there was an
appreciable risk that, being subject to army discipline before, during and
after the court martial, the two junior officers could not truly be {or be seen
to be) independent or impartial. It could be embarrassing for them to
decide adversely to the army, while themselves serving in relatively

subordinate positions on army pay.

97. Contrast that with the position here. By statute public officers
are not allowed to sit as lay members. Having served on the Vanda and
AOH Inquiries, the lay tribunal members will resume their ordinary private

lives, outside the sphere of Government influence.

98. We note, incidentally, that in Morris the European Court
rejected (at §70) a submission that the ad hoc appointment of the junior

officers by itself meant that the tribunal’s impartiality was suspect.

99. Third, we do not see anything objectionable in the Chairman
interviewing members or requesting the ICAC to vet them. Nor do we see

any problem in the Chairman nominating lay members to the FS.

100. We agree with the submission of Mr. Tong SC (appearing for
the FS) that, if anything, the involvement of the Chairman (2 High Court

" judge) in the selection process enhances transparency and objectivity. The

Chairman (as Mr. Tong points out) is well-placed to assess, on the basis of
his experience as a judge, a candidate’s suitability for a particular IDT in

light of the technical expertise called for by a given case. We know, for
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example, that Lugar-Mawson J considered that Mr. Bacon and Mr. Eric Ng
possessed special knowledge which rendered them particularly suitable to
hear the AOH case.

101. We do not accept Mr. McCoy’s contention that the FS in
approving a Chairman’s recommendation acts (in effect) as a rubber stamp.
Instead, the convention has arisen (we believe rightly in the interests of
transparency) that the FS will not normally reject a Chairman’s
nominations without good reason. Otherwise, there is a danger that the FS
may be seen to be unduly interfering in the conduct of justice. The FS
might then be perceived to be appointing persons on the basis of past

record.

102. We regard as fanciful the suggestions that, in interviewing lay
members and having them vetted by the ICAC, the Chairman somehow
transforms himself into a Government functionary. On the contrary, we
again see the FS being kept as far away as possible from the selection

process, so as not to be open to a charge of influencing an outcome.

103. Nor do we think that there is any merit in the submission that

judges are simply going to nominate “like-minded persons”.

104. As Kirby J notes, the fair-minded observer would be aware of
the “pressures” (we would say, “beneficent pressures”) on a judge, by

virtue of his position, to uphold the independence and impartiality of the
judiciary.

105. The reality is that some judge (not just the Chief Justice or the
Chief Judge) has to decide with whom he or other judges will sit on a daily
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basis, whether it be on a 2-man or 3-man bench in the Court of Appeal, or
on a 2-man bench of the High Court reviewing a decision of a tribunal
presided over by a judge, or in some other context. The reasonable
bystander will not jump to the conclusion that a judge is likely to ignore the
pressures and traditions of his office and “gerrymander” (to use Mr.
McCoy’s words) the membership of a tribunal with an eye to a particular

result.

106. In short, whatever the merits or demerits of Mr. McCoy’s ideal
system, the present practice for convening IDTs can hardly be described as
flawed as alleged by the Applicants. In our view, the present procedure
arose precisely in order to promote impartiality and independence and

negative any suggestion of Government influence.

107. Fourth, at one time, Mr. McCoy seemed to be suggesting that
the practice followed in appointing lay members could not be characterised
as “established by law”. This was apparently because the practice being
followed is obviously not found in an ordinance or other publicly available
formal document having legal effect. Hamid Ali Husain v. Asylum Support
Adjudicator [2001] EWHC Admin 852 was cited in support of this

contention.

108. In Husain Burnton J stated (at §§64-66):-

“In the absence of authority, and unirammelled by the wording of
the [European] Convention [on Human Rights] [ECHR], I should
have thought that the independence of a tribunal should be
established by law. If its independence is grounded in the law,
then, since that law is publicly available, the second question
[namely, what facts may be taken into account when deciding
whether a tribunal is independent?] does not arise. If the
independence of a tribunal may properly be assured by other
provisions, then the matters which go to establish that a tribunal
is independent should be publicly available. It is important that
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justice be seen to be done, and that requires that the tribunal that
is responsible for doing justice is seen to be independent. Of
course, any facts, publicly known or not, which go to show that a
tribunal is not in fact independent, must be taken into account in
determining whether there has been a violation of Article 6. In
other words, legally established independence should be a
necessary, but not a sufficient, qualification for a tribunal that
determines civil rights and obligations or criminal charges.

However, this view is not supported by the wording of Article 6
or by authority. The wording of Article 6 indicates that the
tribunal must be established by law ... but that their independence
need not be. This interpretation receives support from the
judgment of the European Court of Human Rights in Sramek v,
Austrig (1984) 7 EHRR 351, which considered under separate
headings the requirements that the determination of a civil right
or obligation should be by a ‘tribunal established by law’ and that
there should be an ‘independent and impartial tribunal’: see
paragraphs 36 and 37 ff. of the judgment. More explicitly, in
Campbell and Fell v. UK (1984) 7 EHRR 165 the Court said, at
paragraph 80:-

‘It is true that the irremovability of judges by the
executive during their term of office must in general
be considered as a corollary of their independence
and thus included in the guarantees of Article 6.1.
However, the absence of a formal recognition of this
irremovability in the law does not in itself imply
lack of independence provided that it is recognised
in fact and that the other necessary guarantees are
present.’

It follows that Article 6 does not require that the independence of
a tribunal that determines civil rights and obligations be
guaranteed by statute.”

105. It will readily be seen that, far from supporting Mr. McCoy’s
proposition, Husain is against it. ICCPR art.14 and ECHR art.6 are in
similar terms. Given that, when assessing whether there is independence

under art.6, one can examine non-formal elements (including an established

" practice), the same must hold true for art.14,

110. Thus, a Court can (as we have done) look at the practice

regularly followed by Chairmen in the appointment of lay members to an

F
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IDT. The practice can be evaluated to assess whether the IDT is an
“independent tribunal established by law”.

111, Fifth, it is instructive that in Morris the European Court was
not content to decide the matter solely by reference to the two junior
officers’ employment. The Court’s approach was instead to examine the
entire court martial structure and process. In evaluating the tribunal’s
independence, the European Court asked itself whether there were adequate
safeguards to counterbalance any potential lack of independence on the part
of the two junior officers. Despite noting certain positive factors, the Court
concluded that the risk of outside pressure being brought to bear on the two

officers was not sufficiently excluded.

112. The same cannot be said here. We do not think that the
method of appointing IDT lay members gives rise to any palpable risk of
outside pressure from the FS. Even if it could conceivably do so, we
believe that there are adequate safeguards in the entire IDT process to

render such possibility far-fetched in the extreme.

113. Among the safeguards that we have in mind are the

following:-

(1)  An IDT is chaired by a High Court judge for a fixed term of
3 years. The judge is not appointed by the FS and his salary is
paid by the Judiciary.

(2) The Chairman alone determines questions of law.

(3) Lay members cannot be public officers.
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(4) Only the CE can remove lay members and then only if certain
matters have been proved to his (as opposed to anyone else’s) -

satisfaction.
(5) There is an appeal procedure to the Court of Appeal.

(6) The decisions of the IDT are susceptible to judicial review.

B.4  Criticism 2: Lack of security of tenure and financial security

114. This criticism did not appear in the Applicants’ original
application for leave. The Applicants sought to introduce the complaint by

way of a late amendment.

115. We believed that the argument was untenable and therefore

refused leave to amend.

116. The Applicants rely heavily on the following passage from the
Jjudgment of Lamer CJC in Genereux (at 127d, 129a - 130c):-

“Section 11(d) of the [Canadian] Charter [of Rights] guarantees a
person who is charged with an offence the right ‘to be presumed
innocent until proven guilty according to law in a fair and
impartial public hearing by an independent and impartial tribunal.

The essential conditions of independence, or basic mechanisms
by which independence can be achieved, were discussed by Le
Dain J in Valente [(1985) 24 DLR (4th) 235). He emphasised
that a flexible standard must be applied under s.11(d). Since
s.11(d) must be applied to a variety of tribunals, it is
inappropriate to define strict formal conditions as the
constiturional requirement for an independent tribunal.
Mechanisms that are suitable and necessary to achieve the
independence of the superior courts, for example, may be highly
inappropriate in the context of a different tribunal. For this
reason, the court chose to define three essential conditions of
independence that can be applied flexibly, being capable of
attainment by a variety of legislative schemes or formulas....
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The first essential condition of judicial independence, as defined
in Valente, is security of tenure. This condition, like the other
two, can be satisfied in a number of ways. What is essential is
that the decision-maker be removable only for cause. In other
words,...

“The essence of security of tenure for purposes of s.11(d)
is a tenure, whether until an age of retirement, for a fixed
term, or for a specific adjudicative task, that is secure
against interference by the executive or other appointing
authority in a discretionary or arbitrary manner.’

Similarly, s.11(d) of the Charter requires that a decision-maker
have a basic degree of financial security. The substance of this
condition is as follows...:-

“The essence of such security is that the right to salary and
pension should be established by law and not be subject to
arbitrary interference by the executive in a manner that
could affect judicial independence.’

Within the limits of this requirement, however, the federal and
provincial governments must retain the authority to design
specific plans of remuneration that are appropriate to different
types of tribunals. Consequently, a variety of schemes may
equally satisfy the requirement of financial security, provided that
the essence of the condition is protected.

The third essential condition of judicial independence is
institutional independence with respect to matters of
administration that relate directly to the exercise of the tribunal’s
function. It is unacceptable that an external force be in a position
10 interfere in matters that are directly and immediately relevant
to the adjudicative function, for example, assignment of judges,
sittings of the court and court lists. Although there must of
necessity be some institutional relations between the judiciary
and executive, such relations must not interfere with the
judiciary’s liberty in adjudicating individual disputes and in
upholding the law and values of the Constitution...

A tribunal will not satisfy the requirements of s.11(d) of the
Charter if it fails to respect these essential conditions of judicial
independence. Although the conditions are susceptible to flexible
application in order to suit the needs of different tribunals, the
essence of each condition must be protected in every case....”

N
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117. The Applicants first argue that the lay members are not
independent because they have no security of tenure. They are only

appointed on a case-by-case basis.

118. There is no merit to this point. In the Generewx passage just
quoted, the Canadian Supreme Court accepted that an appointment may be
for “a specific adjudicative task”. We have seen that the European Court in

Morris reached a similar conclusion.

119. The Applicants’ Skeleton states that Genereux (at 143¢-d) is
authority for the proposition that “security of tenure during the period of a

specific inquiry is not adequate”, But the text cited actually reads:-

“Tt was stated in Valente that according a decision-maker tenure
for a “specific adjudicative task> may be a sufficient guarantee of
security of tenure. I do not believe that this statement is
applicable in this context. Although a General Court Martial is
convened on an ad hoc basis, it is not a ‘specific adjudicative
task’. The General Court Martial is a recurring affair. Military
judges who act periodically as judge advocates must therefore
have a tenure that is beyond the interference of the executive for a
fixed period of time. Consequently, security of tenure during the
period of a specific General Court Martial, achieved by the fact
that no provision of the statute or regulations allows for the
removal of a judge advocate during a trial (except if the judge
advocate is unable to attend:...) , is not adequate protection for the
purposes of s.11(d) of the Charter.”

120. The situation here is different. A lay member’s appointment
to an IDT is not a recurring affair. Once a specific inquiry or inquiries are

over, a lay member’s service comes to an end. On the other hand, while a

. tribunal is sinting, he may only be removed by the CE if one of a limited

number of identified causes is established to the CE’s satisfaction.
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121. The Applicants then say that the lay members do not have
financial security. This is because it is unknown how much (if any)

remuneration the FS has allowed them under SIDO 5.15(4).
122. The Applicants’ argument here is equally without merit.

123. Genereux stresses that the conditions identified by the
Canadian Court must be applied flexibly. The nature of any given tribunal
must be carefully examined in assessing whether the relevant conditions

have been met.

124. It is evident from Lamer CJC’s discussion of financial security
in Genereux that he was especially concerned about longer term judicial
appointments, where the provision of secure salary and pension rights

would be vital.

125. In contrast, IDT inquiries typically run for weeks or at most a
few months. Sittings are half-day long to enable lay members to continue

with their ordinary lives and work.

126. In those premises, it is hard to see what salary or remuneration
package for the relatively short duration of an IDT inquiry would give a lay
member true “financial security”. The reality is that a lay member’s
participation in a tribunal must primarily be a matter of public service. In

practice, unless the member is already financially secure in his ordinary life

" it is unlikely that any reasonable remuneration for his half-days of service

during the brief period of an IDT hearing could give him effective

“financial security” as opposed to momentary financial relief.

3
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127. We bear in mind that the Applicants have disavowed any
intention of challenging the whole of the IDT system. Their complaint is
solely in respect of the AOH and Vanda tribunals.

128. In the circumstances of an IDT in Hong Kong and consistently
with the parameters of the Applicants’ own challenge, it is appropriate to
look at the circumstances of the lay members actually appointed. In so
doing, a reasonable observer would (we believe) readily conclude that in all
likelihood their normal employments bring them more than enough income

security to assure their independence as adjudicators.

129, Mr. David Ng works for Hong Kong Great Wall Certified
Public Accountants Ltd. He appears to be an accountant. Professor Lam is
Chair Professor and Head of the Department of Finance and Decision
Sciences at the Hong Kong Baptist University. Mr. Eric Ng is a Certified
Public Accountant and the Managing Director of Eric Ng CPA Limited.
Mr. Bacon practises as a solicitor and was a partner at Messrs. Herbert
Smith in Hong Kong from 1987 to 1996. Mr, Pang is an accountant and
the Director of Finance and General Manager of Lotus International Ltd.,

an investment and trading business.

130. On the face of their resumes, the persons chosen by the
respective Chairmen for their tribunals seemingly have comfortable
financial backgrounds. The Applicants have not adduced any evidence to

the contrary. There is thus no basis for any informed bystander to form a

’ conclusion that the selected lay members may be affected by financial

pressures.

131. There is no merit in Criticism 2.
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B.5 Criticism 3: Lack of independent counsel

132. The Applicants’ complaint here is essentially that, because of
their involvement in advising the FS in connection with the Vanda and
AOH share dealings under inquiry, counsel for the two tribunals cannot be

regarded as independent.

133. The case as eventually argued by Mr. McCoy was markedly
different from that espoused in the Applicants’ Skeleton. In the latter, the
blanket assertion was made that it was inappropriate for any legal officer of
the DOJ to be appointed as counsel for an IDT. The Applicants have now

resiled from that extreme position.

134, In the examination of these complaints, it has to be borne in
mind that counsel to the tribunal are not part of the tribunal, see Dato Tan
Leong Min v The Insider Dealing Tribunal [1998] 1 HKLRD 630; [1999]
2 HKC 190. They have no role to play in the judicial function of the
tribunal. Hence, the independence or otherwise of such counsel has no real
impact on the independence of the tribunal. A fair minded bystander would
not jump to the fanciful conclusion that simply by virtue of the connection
of a counsel with the small unit in the Department of Justice dealing with
insider dealing matters, the independence of the tribunal is thereby
compromised. In any event, as analysed below, the complaints could not

avail the Applicants.

135, We shall proceed by examining the precise complaints made

in respect of each relevant counsel.
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136. Mr. Andrew Bruce SC had no prior dealing at all with the FS
in connection with the AOH or Vanda share transactions. There is no basis

for suggesting that he is in any way tainted by some conflict of interest.

137. Mr. McCoy faintly suggested that Mr. Bruce should be ruled
out because he had contact with his junior counsel M. Li, who
(Mr. McCoy submitted) may have been in the “small unit” which advised
the FS on Vanda and AOH. As will become evident shortly when we
examine Mr. Li’s situation, the contention is far-fetched and unmeritorious.
A bystander who formed a suspicion of Mr. Bruce on the ground advanced

by Mr. McCoy would strike us as being unduly sensitive.

138. In the case of Mr. Li, a statement was read out in open hearing
on 26 July 2005 to the effect that, before becoming counsel to the AQH
tribunal, he had no involvement in advising the F'S about Vanda and AOLL

139, The statement read in part:-

“In relation to the unit which deals with [IDT] cases, a case may
be handled in one of three ways:-

» Counsel gives advice to the financial Secretary and/or the
financial services and the Treasury bureau and becomes
counsel to the Insider Dealing Tribunal

e counsel advises the financial Secretary and/or the
financial services and Treasury bureau and has no further
involvement in the case; or

* counsel is appointed as counsel to the [IDT] in relation to
a case having had no involvement in the provision of legal
advice in connection with that case.

Junior counsel was not involved in any way in the investigation
of the case presently before the wibunal nor providing legal
advice to any person or persons including officers of the [SFC] in
connection with that investigation.”

[a—
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140. The Chairman of the AOH tribunal asked Mr. Bruce (who had
read out the statement) to clarify the first bullet point. The exchange ran as
follows:-

“THE CHAIRMAN: MTr. Bruce, are you able to confirm that

Mr. Li did not instruct any counsel in terms of your first bullet

point?

MR. BRUCE: I can so confirm.”
141. Mr. McCoy says that the statement and its clarification are not

good enough. Even though he had no actual involvement in advising the
FS on Vanda and AOH, Mr. Li would have formed part (Mr. McCoy says)
of the small unit of DOJ lawyers advising the FS on insider dealing matters.
As such, the Applicants might reasonably apprehend that he may be biased
against them. In such a small unit, there is bound to have been
(Mr. McCoy submits) discussion among counsel (including Mr. Li) about

any ongoing investigation into the Applicants’ dealings.

142. We believe the statement and its clarification to be clear and
categorical: Mr. Li had no invelvement in advising the FS or instructing
counsel for the FS about share dealings in Vanda and AOH. To suggest that
Mr. Li may have been privy to discussions in (say) the corridor or lift about
ongoing investigations into the Applicants is purely speculative. A
bystander who harboured concerns as to bias solely because Mr. Li
belonged (if he did belong) to the “small unit” investigating the Applicants,

would be overly sensitive and suspicious.

143. Mr. McCoy then criticises Mr. Li for sending a synopsis and
dramatis personae to the Chairman of the AOH IDT before Mr. Li’s formal

appointment as counsel for the tribunal. Mr. McCoy is scathing about a
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reference to Lau as a “Potential Implicated Person” in the dramatis
personae prepared by Mr. Li.

144, It would have been perfectly correct (Mr. McCoy
acknowledges) had Mr. Li sent the same synopsis and dramatis personae
(including the identification of Lau as a “Potential Implicated Person”)
after his appointment as counsel. But it was not so before. In acting as he
did before his formal appointment (Mr. McCoy submits), Mr. Li could only
have been acting for the FS, and not the tribunal.

145. We see nothing in the complaint,

146. It is true that Mr. Li was only formally appointed as counsel to
the IDT a few months after sending the synopsis and dramatis personae. It
is true that, when he sent the synopsis and dramatis personae, he was also
seeking information from the tribunal about the likely schedule for its
sittings so that appropriate counsel could be suggested. But in all
probability, at the time when he sent the synopsis and dramatis personae,
Mr. Li already had some inkling that he was likely to be the junior counsel
nominated by the DOJ for the AOH Inquiry.

147. Even if Mr. Li had no such inkling, we do not see how the
reasonable observer would form the view from the sending of the synopsis
and dramatis personae that Mr. Li was advancing the FS’ interests as quasi-

prosecutor. (iven his experience in insider dealing matters, Mr. Li was

- presumably preparing a synopsis and dramatis personae in anticipation of

the IDT’s request for such documents in accordance with normal practice.

The more speedily a synopsis and dramatis personae were prepared, the

more quickly a tribunal could be convened and the inquiry get underway.



::7. A

M

-39.

148. Insofar as Mr. Duncan and Mr. Ho are concemned, both were
previously involved in advising the FS on Vanda and Harbour Ring share
transactions. But both are no longer with the Vanda Inquiry. Mr. Duncan
left the team some time ago for unconnected personal reasons. Mr. Ho
resigned in September 2005 and has since been replaced by Mr. Kwan. In
those circumstances, we would have thought that the Applicants have no

further ground of complaint.

149, It might be suggested that the Vanda IDT has been tainted by
its early association with Mr Duncan and Mr. Ho. But such submission

would be unwarranted.

150. A reasonable and informed observer would not perceive bias
in a tribunal only because, early in its proceedings, it had contact with
counsel who had earlier advised the FS in connection with the institution of

an insider dealing inquiry.

151, In the context of judges, the English Court of Appeal observed
in Locabail v. Bayfield Properties [2000] QB 451 (at 480G):-

*[Tlhe mere fact that a judge earlier in the same case or in a
previous case had commented adversely on a party or witness, or
found the evidence of a witness to be unreliable, would not
without more, found a sustainable objection.”

152. We have already cited the remarks to similar effect of Kirby J
in Johnson.
153. In light of such dicta, we do not think that there can be the

appearance of bias arising from a tribunal’s mere contact with particular

counsel at only a preliminary stage of the inquiry process.
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154. In addition to criticising the tribunals’ association with its
counsel, the Applicants have belatedly sought to amend their judicial
review notice to suggest potential bias arising from contact with
Mr. Wesley Wong and Mr. Richard Fawls (Senior Assistant Law Officer
(Civil Law) at the DOJ).

155. In respect of Mr. Wong, the complaint is that on 30 December
2004 Mr. Wong wrote to the Vanda IDT about the DOJ’s intention to
nominate Mr. Duncan and Mr. Ho as counsel. Later, Mr. Wong appeared
on behalf of the FS in a directions hearing before Lam J in connection with
this judicial review. This would convey the impression (the Applicants say)

that the tribunal was under the FS’ influence.

156. In respect of Mr. Fawls, the complaint is that on 23 February
2005 (at the request of the Chairman of the AOH Inquiry), Mr. Fawls met
privately with the AOH tribunal for 30 minutes. The 3 tribunal members,
Mr. Bruce and Mr. Li were at the meeting. The meeting had 2 purposes.
One was to discuss SFKS’ objection to Mr. Eric Ng sitting as adjudicator.

The other was to consider the question of delay, which SFKS also raised.

157. Later, Mr. Fawls sat behind Mr. Wong at the directions
hearing before Lam J mentioned above. This would have (the Applicants

say) reinforced an impression of bias on the part of the tribunal in favour of
the FS.

7158, The FS filed an affirmation from Mr. Fawls in response to the

late application to amend. That deposed to Mr. Fawls only having joined
the insider dealing team within the DOJI’s Civil Litigation Unit on 1
February 2005, Mr. Fawls states that he has never been involved in
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advising the FS in relation to the AOH, Vanda or Harbour Ring Inquiries,
He took no active part in the 23 February 2005 meeting.

159. Mr. Fawls only attended the directions hearing before Lam J
because he was concerned about the implications of the interim stay
imposed by this Court on the Vanda, AOH and Harbour Ring Inquiries
pending the resolution of these judicial reviews. As a result of the stay, the
IDT voluntarily halted proceedings in another inquiry in which SFKS are
also involved. There has accordingly been serious disruption to the IDT’s
timetable. Mr. Fawls was thus concerned that an early hearing date for the

resolution of these judicial reviews be obtained.

160. It seems to us on the facts that there is no ground for
suggesting that the AOH or Vanda tribunals have been contaminated by
their contact with Mr. Wong and Mr. Fawls.

161. Mr. Wong's only contact with the Vanda tribunal was to
communicate the appointment of its counsel. Neither of the latter remain

as counsel to the Vanda Inquiry.

162. Mr, Fawls had no involvement with the Vanda, AOH or
Harbour Ring Inquiries on behalf of the FS. His concern was purely the
administrative one of ensuring that these judicial reviews were speedily

resolved so as to allow the IDT to get on with its pressing work.

163 There being no substance in the complaints raised in respect of

Mr. Wong and Mr. Fawls, we refused the application for late amendment in

such respect.
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B.6 Conclusion on Issue 1

164, Criticisms 1, 2 and 3 fail. The Applicants have failed to make

a case on this issue.

C.  Issue 2: Whether right to be heard at first public hearing

165. Mr. McCoy says that, at the first public meetings of the AQOH
and Vanda Inquiries, the tribunals decided that the Applicants were
“implicated persons” without affording them an opportunity to make
submissions on why they should not be held to be such. In particular, Lau
wished to submit that he should not be regarded as an “implicated person”
because he had been buying AOH shares over a long period of time before

the transactions forming the subject matter of the AOH Inquiry.

166. Mr. McCoy submits that a “determination” that someone is an
implicated person pursuant to SIDO Schedule §17 will inevitably have
serious repercussions on his reputation. Natural justice dictates that, before
any “determination” under SIDO Schedule §17, a person’s counsel should
be able to address a tribunal on whether or not the person is “implicated” in

insider dealing.

167. Mr. McCoy’s Skeleton adds:-

“The Applicants are not asserting a uniform right in the nature of
a commuittal hearing in a criminal case where the defendant will
be entitled to hear evidence from the witness box, to cross-
examine those witnesses and, if he wishes, to call or give
evidence himself.”

168. Mr. McCoy suggests that, since an IDT is master of its own
procedure under SIDO s.17, the tribunal might limit the scope of any first
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public hearing to hearing submissions on the implications to be drawn from

the case synopsis and the documents in the hearing bundles.

169. Since his clients have been denied natural justice by being
refused a right to make representations, Mr. McCoy asks this Court to
overturn the tribunals’ determinations that the Applicants are “implicated

persons’.
170. We are not persuaded by Mr. McCoy’s argument.
171, SIDO Schedule §17 states the an IDT “shall determine

whether the conduct of any person is the subject of the inquiry or whether a

person is in any way implicated or concerned in the subject matter of the

inquiry”.

172. This may be broken down for greater clarity. At the first

hearing an IDT “shall determine” 3 categories of persons:-
(1)  Persons whose conduct is the subject matter of the inquiry.

(2) Persons who are in any way “implicated” by the subject matter

determined.

(3) Persons who are “concerned” in the subject matter of the

inquiry.
173. The categories are not mutually exclusive.
174. Insider dealing is typically triggered by the conduct or dealing

of some persons in shares. Such persons would presumably fall within the

first category.

M
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175. The persons whose conduct forms the subject matter of an
inquiry may or may not be “implicated” in insider dealing through their
conduct. Accordingly, a person in category 1 may also (but need not
necessarily) come within category 2. It is not enough for a tribunal to
“determine” whose conduct or dealings will form the subject matter of an
inquiry. A tribunal must also direct its mind as to which individuals are

“implicated” as a result of the conduct under inquiry.

176. Note that “implicated” persons may be parties whose dealings
form the subject matter under investigation or they may be persons whose
conduct is not the immediate subject matter of an inquiry. An obvious
example is where a principal engages in insider dealing through an agent.
The agent’s conduct is the immediate subject matter of investigation. But

the principal may be “implicated” by the agent’s conduct.

177. There is a 3" category of persons. These are individuals who
are merely “concerned” in the subject matter of an inquiry. An example
may be (say) witnesses who can give evidence in respect of the conduct
under investigation. There also be individuals who, although not
“implicated” themselves, might be adversely affected by the tribunal’s
findings. We do not believe that it is possible or useful to be more specific

about this last miscellaneous group of persons.

178. So far we have employed quotations to set out the words

“determine” and “implicated”. It is now necessary to analyse what they

* mean in the context of SIDO Schedule §17.

179. Contrary to what one might think at first blush, in the context

of SIDO Schedule §17 the expression “shall determine” cannot mean “shall
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finally decide”. The Legislature could not have expected an IDT at its first
meeting to decide whether a person has engaged in insider dealing. Such
reading of “shall determine” would be absurd. The whole point of an IDT
is to hear the evidence over succeeding sittings in order to come to a final
decision at the end of an inquiry on whether X or Y or anyone else is an

insider dealer.

180. But if “shall determine” does not connote “finally decide”,

what sense does it have?

181. The word *determine” can also mean “establish the nature of®
or “identify”. In our view, such reading of “determine” would seem more
apposite to SIDO Schedule §17. At the first public hearing, the tribunat
must “identify” or “establish” the nature of the forthcoming inquiry. An

IDT in effect merely sets down the bounds of its inquiry at its first sitting.

182. Consider now the word “implicated”. It seems to us that it can

have at least 2 senses.

183. Sense 1 would be the obvious one that a person is actually

“guilty” of (say) insider trading.

184, Sense 2 would be that a person is “potentially guilty” of
insider trading. Sense 2 would mean that the facts as perceived at the start
of an inquiry “imply” that a person may have engaged in insider dealing.
The person so “implicated” may nonetheless be able to rebut the
“implication”. Insofar as he claims to have an answer, that will form part

an IDT’s inquiry over succeeding sittings.
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185S. Once again, it would be absurd if the Legislature expected an
IDT finally to decide that a person was “implicated” in the sense of
“guilty” at its first public hearing. Insofar as it refers to a person being
“implicated”, SIDO Schedule §17 must be referring to the word in the
limited sense of “potentially guilty”.

186. If we now put together the results of our analysis, what a
tribunal does at its first public hearing becomes plain. The tribunal
announces the agenda for its future sittings. It establishes the scope of its

inquiry by identifying and announcing:-
(1)  the persons whose conduct will be investigated;

(2) the persons whose possible guilt as insider dealers will be

investigated;

(3) the persons who may be involved as witnesses or as persons
whose interest may be adversely affected by any finding at the
end of the day.

187. Such a reading makes sense in the context of what has so far
transpired before the first public sitting. Until then, the tribunal has only
met privately to identify to whom Salmon A and B letters should be sent.
The individuals receiving Salmon A letters correspond to the category 1
and 2 persons mentioned above. The individuals receiving Salmon B
letters correspond to category 3 persons. The Salmon letters having been

sent out, the recipients become entitled under SIDO Paragraph §16 to be

- present either in person or by lawyers at an IDTs first public sitting,

188. Until the first public meeting, there has been no open

pronouncement (apart possibly from a brief press release) of the precise
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scope of an inquiry. The first public meeting under SIDO Schedule §17
performs this function of formally announcing to the world at large just
what an IDT will be looking into.

189. We note that the words “at the first sitting of the Tribunal
relating to the inquiry” were recently inserted into SIDO Schedule §17 by

way of an amendment.

190. In the past, as an inquiry went underway, it was frequently
discovered that other persons might be “implicated” (in Sense 2) and they
were usually joined as parties mid-way into an inquiry. This was thought to
be unfair and undesirable. The amendment therefore requires an IDT to
establish its scope right at the outset. The public pronouncement of the
scope is important. Once the hearing proceeds beyond the first sitting, it
will no longer be possible for an IDT to extend its bounds to include other

potential insider dealers.

191. The consequence of our analysis is that at its first public
hearing an IDT would not have come to any decision as to who was or was
not “guilty” of insider dealing. It has merely “determined” what it will be

looking into in days to come.

192. It follows that in the Vanda and AOH first hearings, there have
been no abridgements of natural justice or the right to be heard. Knowing
the scope of their respective inquiries, the Applicants will have ample
opportunity in the course of successive sittings to make whatever

representations they wish.
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193, Nothing prevents Lau from applying in a subsequent sitting
(for example) to strike out the proceedings against him by adducing
evidence of previous AOH share dealings and submitting that such dealings
are a full answer to any allegation of insider dealing. At that points, it will

be for the tribunal to decide whether or not to accede to Lau’s request.

194, We therefore do not believe that the Applicants have made out

a case on Issue 2.

D.  Issue 3: Whether Mr. Eric Ng's presence gave rise to apparent bias

195. This issue arises out of a late application to amend Lau’s
notice for judicial review. Lau seeks by the amendment to challenge

Mr. Eric Ng’s appointment.

196. Lau’s argument is that Mr. Eric Ng’s presence on the AOH
IDT gave it the appearance of bias. It follows (Lau reasons) that the
determination by the AOH tribunal (including Mr. Eric Ng) that Lau was

an implicated person must be set aside.

197. The argument assumes that the “determination” that Lau was
an “implicated person” at the first public sitting of the AOH Inquiry
constituted a judicial finding of guilt. As we have seen, it did not. All that
happened was that the tribunal set out the scope of its inquiry, including an
inquiry into whether Lau should be held guilty of insider dealing in AOH
shares. Thus, whether or not Mr. Eric Ng’s presence on the tribunal gave
rise to apparent bias, there would be no final judicial determination of

Lau’s guilt to quash.
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198. But assume that we are wrong in our understanding of SIDO
Schedule §17 and that there was some sort of judicial decision to the effect

that Lau was an “implicated” person (in some adverse sense).

199. Even then we do not believe that a reasonable bystander could
conceivably have regarded Mr. Eric Ng as biased or apparently so. We

have cited a dictum from Locabail which appears to us to cover the point.

200. Suppose that Mr. Eric Ng was the dissenting voice in the
Chinese Estates Inquiry. It would require a quantum leap of logic to infer
that Mr. Eric Ng dissented because he regarded Lau’s evidence in the
Chinese Estates Inquiry as unreliable. However, suppose that the inference
could just about be drawn. We would still be unable to see how an
observer might reasonably conclude from this alone that Mr. Eric Ng was

potentially biased against Lau.

201. Lau fails on Issue 3. His late application to amend his judicial

review was dismissed accordingly.

E. Issue 4: Whether Pang rightly appointed by FS’ exercise of
delegated authority

202. Mr. McCoy submits that Mr. Pang was not validly appointed.
He argues that the CE’s power under SIDO to appoint a temporary member
to an IDT is either non-delegable or (if delegable) the power was not

effectively delegated to the FS.

203. We disagree with Mr. McCoy.
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204. Under Interpretation and General Clauses Ordinance (Cap.4)
(IGCO) s.63(1) the CE may delegate a statutory power of appointment to a
public officer. IGCO 5.63(3) further provides that where a public officer
exercises a power vested in the CE, the power shall be deemed to have

been delegated to the officer unless the contrary is proved.

205. The CE in fact delegated his power to appoint IDT temporary
members to the FS. This is evidenced by a loose minute dated 16 January
1999 recording that fact. That states that “the CE also agreed with F§’
proposal that the authority for approving similar appointments [of
temporary IDT members] be delegated to F'S in future”.

206. We think that the meaning and intent of the minute is clear.
We do not believe (contrary to what Mr. McCoy has submitted) that there
is any ambiguity with the expression “in future” used in the minute. The
minute plainly states that in the future the FS may exercise the power of

appointment.

207. Mr. McCoy argues, however, that IGCO 5.63 must be read
subject to IGCO s.2. The latter provision states that the general ability to
delegate under IGCO s.63(1) is subject to any indication to the contrary in

a statute.

208. Mr. McCoy says that a contrary intention may be discerned
from the fact that in SIDO the power to appoint temporary members is
specifically vested in the CE, while the power to appoint lay members is
otherwise vested in the FS. The Legislature (Mr. McCoy contends) must
have meant by this that the CE and only the CE could appoint temporary

members.
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209. This would make sense (Mr. McCoy reasons) since temporary
member would typically be appointed when an IDT inquiry was underway.
The FS having a quasi-prosecutorial role in such inquiries, he should not

(Mr. McCoy suggests) be seen to have any influence on the appointment

process.
210. We do not find the argument based on IGCO s.2 persuasive.
211. Thete is no plain indication in SIDO rendering IGCO s.63(1)

inoperative.  One cannot deduce anything about the availability or
otherwise of a power to delegate from the mere fact that a general power to

appoint temporarily is expressly conferred on the CE.

212. First, under SIDO Schedule §8 the CE has power to appoint
temporary members, including the Chairman of a tribunal. Normally, the
Chairman would be appointed not by the FS, but by the CE on the
recommendation of the Chief Justice. There is thus nothing remarkable in

vesting a fall-back power to appoint any member temporarily on the CE.

213. Second, the power to appoint temporarily is not confined to
the situation where an IDT is fully underway. The power under SIDO
Schedule §8 may be exercised at any time after an ordinary member has
been appointed. The power can come into play well before an IDT has
had significant discussion on the conduct of an inquiry. There is no reason
why the FS should not be able to appoint replacement members at that
stage if necessary. One cannot infer (absent clearer words) that, because
the power might be exercised when proceedings are well advanced, the
Legislature intended such power to be non-delegable so as to remove an

impression of the FS interfering in judicial process.
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214. Lau therefore fails on Issue 4, Mr. Pang’s appointment by the
FS was valid.

F. Issue 5: Whether undue delay

215. This issue can only concern the Vanda Inquiry. The AOH
tribunal postponed the hearing of submissions on delay to a future date.
The AOH tribunal has not come to any reviewable decision on the question

of delay.

216. On undue delay, the Chongs rely on ICCPR article 14(3) and
HKBORO art.11(2).

217. Those articles apply where a person faces a “criminal charge”.
Although there is authority (R v. SFC ex parte Lee Kwok-hung (1993)
3 HKPLR 1 (Jones J)) to the effect that insider dealing proceedings are not
criminal or quasi-criminal, we shall assume (without deciding) that a
finding of insider dealing is analogous to a finding of guilt on a criminal

charge. On that premise, the 2 articles would be applicable here.

218. The articles stipulate that a person on a criminal charge

should:-

(1) promptly be informed promptly of the nature of the charge

against him; and,

(2) be tried without undue delay.

219. The Chongs’ alleged insider dealing took place in early 2000.
They did not learn of the Vanda Inquiry until April 2005 when they

M
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received Salmon A letters. The Chongs complain that the lapse of some

5 years is inordinate and inexcusable.

220. This is particularly so (the Chongs contend) because the
Vanda IDT was directed by the FS in September 2003. The Chongs were
not told of this at the time. Instead, they accuse the IDT of “secretly and
deliberately hoarding” the FS’ 5.16(2) Notice.

221. The Chongs further say that, because of the lapse of time, their
memory of events (and that of relevant witnesses) will inevitably have
dimmed. The result (the Chongs conclude) is that a fair trial is no longer

possible.

222. In its Ruling of 9 August 2005, the Vanda tribunal rejected the
Chongs’ allegations of undue delay.

223. The tribunal accepted (at §106) that more than 5 years had
passed since the events which the subject of its inquiry. That was “a

substantial period of time and ... there is no doubt that the detail and clarity

of ... events will to some extent have faded in the recollection of witnesses”.

224. But the tribunal “{did] not believe that it is so long a period as
to undermine witnesses’ recollections to a degree as to render the
proceedings unfair” (at §106). The tribunal found no evidence of real

prejudice to the Chongs as a result of delay.

225. This was especially the case where the Chongs could refresh
their memories from the records of their 2001 interviews with the SFC. In

any event, the tribunal could “[take delay] into account in a commonsense
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way in assessing a witness’s credibility and reliability in determining the
facts of the case” (at §107).

226. Becky Chong affirmed that she could no longer remember
events clearly. But the tribunal could place little weight on such assertion.
The tribunal commented (at §109): “In our view it is far too early to know
how much Becky CHONG (or indeed any other witness) can or cannot

remember. We will however regard her evidence afresh in due course.”

2217. Finally, the tribunal observed (at §108) that a large part of the
evidence was documentary. Those documents were normal commercial
ones obtained from banks, securities firms and other financial institutions
which retain records for 7 vears. Key documents evidence remained

available.

228. On the alleged failure to inform the Chongs promptly of the
inquiry, the tribunal doubted that it was possible to inform them

immediately upon the issuance of a 5.16(2) Notice.

229. This was because (at §97):-

“For one thing, the notice does not purport to name the implicated
parties. They have yet to be decided. A section 16(2) notice
names only individuals whose share trading is to be the subject of
an inquiry. They may or may not become implicated parties.
Other persons who do become implicated parties are not named
and cannot be named until the Tribunal has been constituted and
its members have appointed counsel assisting and have been
served with the inquiry materials and had an opportunity to read
those materials, that is the various witness statements and
interviews, and examine the documents, then meet with counsel
assisting and decide which of the various individuals referred 10
in those materials are to be considered a implicated parties and
will accordingly be issued with Salmon letters (which include the
terms of the section 16(2) notice).”

M
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230. The tribunal pointed out (at §98):-

“No doubt that process [of constituting an inquiry] could be
hastened and be conducted in a timeframe of less than the
17 months it took in the present inquiry. But it should be
remembered that this process is usually conducted during the
course of another inquiry. No Salmon letters can be issued
without the appointment of lay members and the constitution of
the tribunal. Lay members can only be appointed with some
specific hearing timetable in mind, they cannot be appointed and
then be expected to be available at large ready to sit whenever at
some future time the inquiry is to begin. For that reason a
compromise has to be arrived at, where members are best
appointed to new inquiries only once the end of a currently
proceeding inquiry is in view and the dates for the new inquiry
can be set with some (though far from complete) certainty.”

231. Accordingly, the relevant consideration is “solely whether the

implicated parties can have a fair hearing given the period of delay which

has elapsed since the date of the events the subject of the inquiry” (at §100).

On that question, as we have seen, the tribunal believed that the answer was

117 »?

yes”.

232, In our view, the tribunal’s reasoning was impeccable. We
fully agree with it. Although matters could have moved more promptly,
that does not mean that delay has been inordinate or undue. Consequently,

the Chongs fail on Issue 3.

233. Before moving to Issue 6, it is convenient to dispose here of a
complaint raised by the Chongs. They contend that there was a “secret”
(but unfair) decision by the Chairman of the Vanda IDT not to try Harbour

Ring at the same time as Vanda.

234. There was plainly no such decision.
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235. The Chairman simply observed to the members of the Vanda
IDT that “what cannot happen is that [Vanda] and Harbour Ring are heard
together”.

236. We understand by the statement that, having himself explored

whether the 2 inquiries could be heard together to save time and cost, the
Chairman concluded that unfortunately they could not (as a matter of
possibility rather than prohibition). This would have been because Harbour
Ring was not yet in a state to proceed. Further, if assigned to a different
tribunal, Harbour Ring could not be heard over a period which overlapped
with Vanda. There would (for example) be obvious logistical problems
(not least of which would be the difficuity of scheduling common

witnesses), if the 2 tribunals sat simultaneously.

237. Nothing prevents the Chongs from now applying (if they see
fit) for the Vanda and Harbour Ring Inquiries to be heard at the same time
by a single tribunal. Their application may or may not be granted. That
would be a matter which the tribunal seized of their application can only

decide if and when an application is made.

G.  Issue 6: Whether there should be a stay

238. The Applicants have failed on all issues. There is no ground

for the grant of a permanent or temporary stay. There has been no abuse of

power by any of the IDT tribunals.

239. Given in particular that we agree with the conclusion of the
Vanda tribunal that fair trial is still possible despite the lapse of time and in

the absence of any abuse of process, it would be wrong to order a
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permanent stay of those proceedings, see HKSAR v Lee Ming Tee (No.2)
(2003) 6 HKCFAR 336 at Paras. 182 to 184,

IV.  Conclusion

240. The Applicants fail on all issues.

241. We thus dismissed the applications for judicial review and the
various applications to amend the same. We also lifted the interim stays
previously imposed by this Court on the Vanda, AOH and Harbour Ring

Inquiries.

242, Finally, at the end of the substantive hearing, we made an
order nisi that the FS was to have his costs of the judicial reviews, such
costs to be taxed if not agreed. Unless the Applicants apply to vary the

order nisi, it will become absolute within 14 days of the date of handing

down of this Judgment.
(M. H. Lam) (A.T. Reyes)
Judge of the Court of First Instance ~ Judge of the Court of First Instance
High Court High Court
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Mr Gerard McCoy, SC (3™ January, 2006 only) leading Mr Hectar Pun and
Mr Newman Lam, instructed by Messrs Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum, for
the Applicants in both actions

Mr Ronny Tong, SC leading Mr Abraham Chan, iﬁstructed by the
Department of Justice, for the Respondents in both actions
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INSIDER DEALING TRIBUNAL

IN THE MATTER of the Securities
(Insider Dealing) Ordinance, Cap 395

and

IN THE MATTER of an Inquiry into
certain dealings in the listed securities of
Vanda Systems and Communications Holdings Limited

Tribunal: Chairman: The Hon Mr. Justice McMahon
Members: Professor LAM Kin
Mr. NG Tze Kin, David

Date of Hearing: 12™ April 2006

Date of Delivery of Ruling: 4" May 2006

RULING




1. For the purposes of this inquiry into the purchase of Vanda
shares by implicated parties or by persons known to them counsel
assisting, on the 6™ April 2006 made an application that this Tribunal hear
evidence of other share dealings by some of the implicated parties in a
company Harbour Ring International Holdings Limited (“Harbour Ring”).
Those parties affected by the application were Sammy TSE Kwok Fai,
Debbie NG Kit Ying, Chris WONG Cheung Hung, Dennis LI Yat Tung,
Charles CHONG Wai Lee and Becky CHONG Bun Bun. On the
12™ April 2006 the Tribunal ruled that the evidence of Sammy TSE’s
involvement in the Harbour Ring negotiations was admissible, as was
evidence of telephone communications between the six implicated parties
and of their share purchases. I now give reasons for that ruling. The
purpose of that evidence was said to go towards proving that those parties
who purchased Harbour Ring shares and who purchased, or were
involved in the purchase of Vanda shares in the present inquiry, did so
only after on each occasion an implicated party in the present case
Sammy TSE had reccived information concerning business transactions
his company Hutchison Whampoa Limited {“Hutchison™) was

negotiating.

2. In other words counsel assisting suggests that evidence of
the specified implicated parties in the present inquiry purchasing shares in

Harbour Ring only after Sammy TSE had become involved in

b2



negotiations which provided him with information concerning that
company’s affairs goes to negative mere coincidence in the same
implicated parties purchasing Vanda shares in the present inquiry only
after Sammy TSE had become involved in negotiations which provided
him with information concerning Vanda’s affairs and would tend to prove
that the purchases were connected with Sammy TSE having received

such information.

3. The Tribunal sees the merit in that argument. From the
materials before the Tribunal and the evidence heard to date it appears
likely that the implicated parties affected by this application will indeed
be arguing that their purchases of Vanda shares were independent of any
contact they may have had with Sammy TSE, and conversely Sammy
TSE’s case is or may be that any purchases of shares by the present
implicated parties had nothing to do with any contact those parties had

with him.

4. Quite plainly in circumstances where, as the evidence on its
face will suggest, Sammy TSE was an associate or friend of the other five
implicated parties, or at the very least a mutual associate or friend, and
where those individuals participated in the purchase of quite large
numbers of Vanda shares for the first time, the Tribunal will have to
consider whether those purchases were brought about by Sammy TSE

divulging information or encouraging the purchases in some way.



5. The Tribunal will have as an issue before it the question as to
whether, even though Sammy TSE may have come into some information
concerning Vanda’s proposed closer relationship with Hutchison at that
time, his friends and associates i.e. the other five specified implicated
parties may have made their purchases of Vanda shares for reasons
unconnected with Sammy TSE’s involvement or knowledge of any
negotiations between Vanda and his own company Hutchison as to a

future relationship between the two companies.

6. It seems plain that one factor which would be relevant to the
Tribunal’s determination of that issue is quite simply whether there was
any other history of Sammy TSE’s associates purchasing shares of
companies which were the subject of negotiations involving Hutchison

and particularly Sammy TSE.

7. On that basis that evidence was ruled to be admissible in the

present inquiry.
8. But as the Tribunal said on the 12® April when delivering its
ruling it is intended to keep the evidence concerning the Harbour Ring

dealings contained within strict parameters.

9. ‘What is admissible 1s as follows:



(a) Evidence that Sammy TSE attended meetings concerning a
proposal to have investment funds injected into Harbour

Ring.

(b) Evidence of the purchase of Harbour Ring shares by or on

behalf of the other five implicated parties.

(¢) Evidence of any telephone communications between the six
specified implicated parties at or about the time of the
Harbour Ring meetings attended by Sammy TSE and the

purchase of shares.

It may well be that as the evidence in this inquiry develops more specific
rulings will be required as to the admissibility of particular aspects of the

Harbour Ring evidence.

10. Indeed, it is likely further rulings will be made as to the
relevance, and therefore the admissibility of evidence relating to the

meetings Sammy TSE attended and the content of those meetings.

11. However the Tribunal wishes to emphasize that this evidence
is admissible into the present proceedings for the limited purpose of
negativing coincidence (if it can be expressed it that way). There is no
question of the Tribunal embarking upon a hearing of the Harbour Ring

issues generally or particularly determining whether information the



subject of that forthcoming inquiry was specific or price sensitive or
otherwise fulfilled any criteria which will have to be determined by

another Tribunal in the future.

12. The purpose of the Harbour Ring evidence is simply as
stated above and its admissibility will be strictly limited by its relevance

to that purpose.

13. [ might add that the test the Tribunal used to determine
admissibility of this evidence is entirely based upon relevance and
fairness. The rules of the common law as to admissibility of evidence
are not determinative of the admissibility of evidence before this Tribunal:
section 17(a) of Cap. 395. In the Tribunal’s view the evidence is
relevant and any effect it may have in the future will not extend beyond

its field of relevance. There is no additional prejudicial effect.

(The Hon Mr. Justice McMahon)
Judge of the Court of First Instance
& Chairman of the Insider Dealing Tribunal

(Professor LAM Kin) (NG Tze Kin, David)
Member Member



Annexure G

ANNOUNCEMENT OF VANDA DATED 21°T FEBRUARY
PUBLISHED IN THE 22™° FEBRUARY 2000 ISSUE OF

SOUTH CHINA MORNING POST



{

| O,

TUESDAY, FERRUARY 22, 2000

ngUT/H CHINA MORNING POSY

v

CLASS|FIED Page ?

the conlsnts af this anmouncement.

Taet Stock Exckonge of Hang Koag Limited 1uter ao sespoaribitity for tha coniemis of ihis anacinimeal, malds no reprasentation as te iy uceurocy of camplefeaers and exprasly dise g any liabitty wh

VANDA SYSTEMS & COMMUNICATIONS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(B2 53 XN WY

{Incorporsied in Bermuda wish tmiled Habillzy)

PIIOI'()'SEI) ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND GRANT OF OPTIONS

Jor amy loss hawsaever arising fiom or in retlogce upon tie whols or any part of

11 ACREEMENT

Lesuca share cuplial of ihe Company 11 calergod by the isyus pad 2l af all af the

por ceul uf v 101ad dasued abare uapiial of tha Counpuay s calurged by the insue and al) ef sl of the C

THE BONDS

sunvesind iuto Shascx in cenun circnmmancos 1pecifed bolow,

The Diueciure sasunncae thal o Compaay eutcred ata 5 coaditlugal agscainenl wiil flutchlica, tho P wnd L ba & Wad Limbed oa 181k Frbupn
#aiw of HX $197 946 63798, (i} o Cauipngy tas dgoced 1o binup s courcoible bond 1v J3P ur it subsidiuniea by dhe prinelpal sem of BLL ST, LES, 65587, il tha Company hav ugiced a0 grant iz aplo o Jluichisod 10 sabscibe for Nhaics 1epreatullog ug 1o wilod of 1.5 por cead. of ta h.':J!
Shures and the Shanes dut 1o faped vader the Buing CH upon Ls full cunvessivg; iv) Lhe Catupasy bas ugreed u gract ac opiiou ka 137 19 subsciibo far Shures rproscriing up t 4 ol of 1.0
Shams anl 1he §bares 10 be braned nadar the Baring CH upog it4 Al codversine, ind (v} Law Ma & Wil Limlicd, s conuuHing sharghaldor of 1he Coupauy, bas «gread

W give ¢4 undurtakia g oy i violing ile Sbares, The usua of the Bonds wnd The cxersise of fhe Optisad ure wubjecs W cenala conditions spocified below.

Tus Bonds boar inlareat st n rate of 6 per conl, per aunum paysble every vix mooth Iu vean. The sulitwding priscipal amoust of the Boads iy re
Bondhalden. The Bowds we conventible lata Sharss ae aoy Upe afiar their date of fiae [paovided thet conversiops valy up o w isxioeu of 4 Hwmes o4y be wuta duriag the terus of the Bosds) v an initisd uonveniod pele of HKB3. 135 par Shnte, shbject 1o adjoatmcnt, The Boands musi be

Y. 2000 wadkeq which, woyung wibios \kings. {1 the Compuny bus agreed to lasue 4 coavenlbbe bawd 1o Hugch of i subsiiariey in the pelacipal

payably by the Company upor the maturly of (he Bonds oa ths sesoad sonivermary nf It dats of Meue, §f oot previomly converted by ibs

o of ths Boads usd aseumiog ikas Wiese will e no ndfustuce £o o fahial

cupltal of the Cowpuny aa cnlaeged by tha Cugwei sion Shares ind fhe Shases 10 b [anuod witdes s Baiing CH upua He full couvegion
d at the initisl

Agguming that the Saads ayi fully

togethes with an caplasatias ciroular 1o all shagebulilcr of e Company 5 200R 48 piscticable,

2004

Tho isaug of the Boour and the Cooversion Shares wilt be sublect to, amioog othoy Lhings, 10e approval of the yharchalders of e ¢ y. o ful! prico. & toial of 37,292,376 uqw Shares will
b isswed, reprercuting sppiosiauicly 24 4 per cont. of e exinting innucd shary cagital of the Covopany aad 17.5 P ctul. of tho Sssucd sbace sapiial of Wio Counny us eolurged by the i etthe Coarcnmlog Shuwt and ks Sbwss (o be faoucd undes the Buzing CH upes its fubl ceuvcasioa.
THE DPTIONS

Sulfcct o compluilon uf the inue of e Bowds, he Opilans wo excrcisnble by Mutchison und 39 at any tino withia iwe yeurs froc thy dule of complriion of tha isess of the Boads sad 10uy bo caeralicd lu whiva or dn parl. The éxescize pidsc per Shato is eyuul ko s pcaversioq PACE Under
ibe Bouds. Assursing thot the (hpiloay we Bully cacrtised ol the bnidal excrolae price, 3 oul of SL.393,425 aew Sharca will bo isnued wpoy- excrcive of e Opilon, vepacinativg spprusimatety 14.4 Boz cel. o e cxbulony insucod sha s cupidal vl the Conapuay sud 10.5 pes vout. of the isaucd sl

price and tho Oyprinas ure fally exercired at s Jnidal axercine price, & Wil of 139 687,200 cew Slures wlll bc busued repicacoiing approsimicly 39.0 por rant of tic sabatlug dsvucd abars apltal of the Compuay and
appicxhnaicly 28.U por ceat. vl Wie [ssued share capiial of the Company as saluayed by the Converdos Shares and tha Shutex 1 be issapd uader the Baring C8 ukon i full converion.

The isaue of 1he Bendy, the Conversion Shares, the Options wod the Dption Sharcs are subiecl ©o, smong otber Lhing, tha approval of it sharcholdsrs of (g Corpany st 5 speclal gavan mealing w bo canvcucd by 1he Compasy. The Compasy will read a agiler of wpecial ganern) macilag

Vo Company ang Hatchidun bave sg:ced (o wa their beat endeavourt 1a procuse that u jolnt vonburs agicement bo colcied inte by 1be dute of tic jasug of be Bands relating 10 ko fonaaiioa of & joint venlwe company. Ceiain delails of the propased fojst veatess sre specificd belaw,
The Shares weie suspcndsd fom trwdlng on the Siock Bxchanye fom 10:00 a.00 on IBib Fobruagy, 200 a1 the wequen of ths Canupasy! The Company bas eande an aypllention io the Stock Kachange 0 acysine Tading of 1he Shasex on the Siock Bachazge lroen 16:00 4.m. on 31od Februazy,

AGHEEMENT DATED 18TH FERRUARY, 1000

A. THK BONDS

1. The Hepdheldars
Subject t tha saslafaction of the casdition) refened o la Paragraph A.J below, the Honca will b iasued in i namg of @) Hutchinon of Ju
sudaidinry(iea) wnd (1} 131 of iy wbsldiany(ice). Huichinog wad 137 are indopendea: dlvd purde wad nre wot cosmegied peaans (m detingg
duder s Listicg Ruled) of tie Company. Hulchiron is x whally-owned subsidiary of Hulchisoa Whampoa Limlicd, 1 COTipany whoie socpritiss
we Haled on W Stock Exubange aad which operatcs five core busiacsies ba 16 countlcs; povts mud rziated neevicey: u[ecmmulijkims;
propariy 1nd belal uvcatiosnl and menegomear; seiail, sinufucturiog sed oikeg servicas; aud energy aad infrastiuciure,

—— i

2 Princpal Teros of L Boads . {
The principal lems of the Boads wre summarised below: |
fai Imner f
The Campany
(5) Frntipal Amount s
Huichizon Boml —
HKE192.966,837.90 payublo In full by Huighieai a7 bie dubsidiarytics) *
L3P Boud — i

T1K379,166.655 53 payable In full by 13§ urite subslillaryCiea)

fed Manarisy Dats und Redempiion 11
Unleta previvusly cosveaind, the outitanding Priocipsl wmouws of the Boads (togeiber witk All uapaid aad sccrued intereat) wilk be tqnid
Ly ths Compasy wpos il manyity va tho secunl anpiversury of the Jatc of lisue of e Huads togeiber wilh accrusd Inizst.

id) lwterest . |
The Boata will bear intaacsl fiom thain dato of Irsne ut the rate of § Per cenl pex wwnum, which will La puyalle once ¢very st mor e in
tarcuis wn g priccipel aueunt of (o Boude vustanding R tiuss el

f8) Canviratun Rights

Ths oustanbing principal amoust of the Bonda or sy part hereal way be couvered lats Shace a1 A8Y Uwa (proavided st coav Taion
only up 40 & saslmun of 4 Umed way ko male duilug the 1sspesiive tosn uf the Bowdi] lar e he sustudly duts al tha zelevant
conversion pligs (nkich is Lutially HEEY. |75 pes Share, whect fo adjurticean), Ho fiactiop of & Sk will be fanugd vo coiveiadcy bt
[ERecp! b caved whces sy such cush payoscent woubd ansount L Jess HKS10) & cunts puyusont will b0 wade 10 tbe Buadhold xa iy
feapect of much Fepilon. J‘

wtke
g

Ths Hondbntdcss puat conved tha whila of b outstandiug muswnt vaikr e Hasds jiuts Shatsy 1f i e10ning price of the Shwed
$tok Buchango by cach of uny W0 counscative Lascliug ays dustig 1be paniod couuuzncing ox e Jdale of Lyawo of 1ha Buuds o
B Wie il ksily diis uf tho Bauds 1o sot ican hal 290 pes ceul wf the provailing covaanias prive.

~

L W

Atauoing hat the Oplians ara Pally exerclsed at the faitial exorciac price, o wanl of 52,575 419 mew Shaca Wil b Leasicd upos paencis:
of the Cipiiou seperenduy appruaieatoly 1 6 per cewr. of e aninting faved by vaplisl wf tbe Cumpany ugd |83 par ceat af b
dnaued sbare caplial of Ws Conpauy us valiusged by Lo Conversion Shares and tha Fhmics to be inaued wadar Ui Badpg CO wpon lus fuil
convendan.

Cption Lonsiderarion

Tuo exerchis prica per Sharc payable by Huchissa aud 135 LpoR ansrcive af e (ptians b squal 1o ke convarslon prien which [
initiwtly BK$3.175 por Sbuss, subject v adjuatiosul ). The busty of dotcibuing the Luluial souverslon price la sct outia pénpraph A Wy
chuve.

{e) Exrrclra Periad N

Mutchizon and 3P way sxeicive he Options o exy tima duslng the peckad sommenciag framw the date of complerion of K is5uo of the
Boads asd capining o he second seaniverary of Hak dato or if such dute (s nof 2 Laukiug duy, the baakiag day bomediscly proasding
amch datg. )

Trmifarubility

The clybts woder tha Dptivas w aof traasferable.

Conditlons in tine Kxeachsa of the Optiony

The exercise ol b Gptions or suy par therea! Iy
Campletlon of the Exerclse of ity Oplons
Subject 1o Fulfitlnaot of the condition refemed o in pussgiph B3 above, complelion ef (bo < iesdss of ibe Cptloos will tabs placo aw & dais
fa be upcaificd by Hulchisug sad T3P 40 1he nubive of casrcise of tbe Opticua, belng v bmibiag day Falling st Leyst 1 bauidng daya aficr e duln
el e apilag sotive. .

Uss of Proceds

The grasa proceads from the excrchie of the Opdows ws ¢limated 19 bo approabwuisly HKS166 wdlive. 1t iy iovended that he Bel proceols
will be used fur goncral warking supical pusposcs.

Heowoos fay 1be Grunt of e Opidona .

Thie puspnao uf lapuing the Opdans is i 1woajiben hia lang: (eau workiag releclvudip whib alalcpic padiocy,

EOF-UP SUBSCRIFTION -

Subjeet 10 the requirameats of e Tating Radsa nud oiher applicable miles, Yawn and regelwionn, and provided that the Bouds bave pog bega
Vimafossed th sy poaIwD Gicl thaa iHuickinon's subsidiartes 01 130's subaidiag {ds upprapdiic}, if the Corapany alluts and biuey ay Gow

1k

=

¢

b upon ihe coapiadon of iwsuo of this Bouds,

rod & per coal, mupeciively, of such pew Shares 1a be slloied g0l inoued ou fin 50 far wa frasouably practicabls pod appooguinich the sane

e A4 such §hares we oo o auch iy paities Such s will be upou fur o bt vl tssnking days B e date of woitc of te wlla
given by stic Cuugaiy and 1 166 catcd shat L TR T T I At

8 INX3ULNY



»

5

1 The Bundholders musi coowvot ike whokz of the vuthtandiog wutuel under lhe Boods Into Sharey )2

LSRRI

Ui closurg it o the Sharze an e

Blovk Huchaage in cach vl sny 20 cunsecudve wading deyy duilog the peslud comaeszing vo the dade of lasug of the Bondy and ELTT

s kke matanty duie of the Hoadi 11 nol lesy lauw 250 per ceat of the puevailing convesszon miza.
Anumiag that the entlse punclps smovot of HRI217.153,293. 31 of the Bowsde I converied at the lallsl convers
U1L.102,370 e Shares will k< Inusd, whish reprerenn apjimimalely 24 4 per cent. of tbe sulmlag lanusd shame caphial of the Compuny
wid 179 per coat. of whe beurd sbu cnpital of the Comtpusuy né wibiiged by tha | Shacce and rho Shases tu be
bawrd woder the Baring CB wpon s full converdlon.

{f)  Ranking of Sharws ta ba Iraved Lipon Converslon
The Conwvemlon Sharcs wIT runk pash pavad {o elf sesfect® with all olbes Shasca bn lave op tho data of s conversdon soilce and wlll be
caiitked (2wl divideads, boautes aud nthes dintrldutions the 1ncord dats of whick fabls on » daie on o sfter e ditc of bt conveinion
naice,

ig) Conavérsion Price
The Inidal conveenica price of HKSY 173
altes L'y lengull negotistioun
The labial conversiva prico of FEEEA. | 73 represente n
11K53.70 on the Stack Harhmnge uo 17ty d'slawary, 210K, the

i tha € i

pet Share, sbjec) to adjuriment in accosdance with the teroa of he Bondr, was dete) pl pot

digcount of sppioshasiely 4.3 per cont to tha closing price of tho Shared of
| erxdiug duy pracedivg he suvpcniion in iradiag of the Snaics; 4
prendun of approslaaately L per cont. (g the svecage closiog p of the Shaces of HK$2.125 ox shie 8ok Exchazge in due fificen
SuRICCuLn Gading deyy coding oo | Vib February, 2000 fiaciuntve); + peotminm of approxbouely 16,3 pot coal. to 1 sveiuge closing
price of the Shares of IKS2 I on the Stock Huchange n e thisty covscculive Urdiag deys endbng un 17t Sebiuary, HO0U Liclusiva);

M Yering
The Bondholders will 501 by cattled 1a iocelva aotics of, sitend or vole si
ths Bondholdera,
1) Yeaferabiftey
Subject 10 the rolevinl yules, laws, segulsttons, tequizement god conents, the Buads sy not be ranafereed excep) wilh the prior
vppiaval of the Compasy aud (H raquired) Ihe Siock Buchange eacept wheae ihe Bonds are tansfeined 10 1 boldieg sowpany of ke
reajeetlve Bandhoddire, o subsidiary of suck respecidve pokdlng pany of mdubsiddery of ths respocd: Bondbabdcn, The oulstandlvg
pisacipal amonat of the Boods may be Lransfesved ln ful or In pan. The Bunds ey ol be irasslened ko o coanected porsan (an delined
in tlis 1 issing Rulcs) of the Campany or sey of lis suhaldiurler except with Akt grod mppioval of the Company and (iF aequired) by the
Jivck Exthasge. .
W 1be Homde or say pact thersof b aoefeicd 4o 8 naas[ave who fe 1 direar or {sdies heldisg cotopany of e raapeciive Baodhaldern,
8 diract of indivect pubpldiniy of such dolding fumpany of s dirsct of Indiicet subrsiBuy af ihe rrapeciiva Boudbaldera, sod e Lanaferee
ceated (o have the sadp relalionnkip wi yva Bosdlilde:s, tse tanafosec is 410 1 amuber the Bondd (mn sppropalate) and

the Bundboldery {xn apprapelalc) iwwt procuse tha: ibe Mouds are iamferred tu a panty wha bas g of ths Afmersid seleilonships with
lbe aelgionl Hogdholdeis {as appropeisic). ' .

Conditlons 18 tha lusu ¢ of 1he Saunde

Cuzipletion of the intus of tbe Buads Js conditona) upan the follewlng baving ke place 0n oF before M April, 2000 or such Tater dase an

muy be agreed apong the Company, iluichisus snd [17:

(a)  the flatlug Commilles o the Siock Eichaoge grantiap the Hiling of und poiswnluslon 1o dusl ia,
Slucs;

b} afscquiced, ihe Bormwda Musciny Authordly

Sbuer; ,

L2y other eocditions a9 mny b raquired wader b Listing Rates sadior by the Stock Exchange;

of the O Jno Sbarch in d wlib the. spplicabic 1ermos of the
Axicernoat and 1he conditions of the Boxdi by sharcholdern of the (aripucy &t & special gences] meellng of puch sbireboides; and

e} ths mpproval of ibo greaticg of the (rptions and the derae wod slalmeal of e Option Shares la accorduace with ths spplicable teans of
dhe Agresment by the adircholdor o 1be Dompssy s specinl goncrad maccudng of such sharcholdes.

1T the confiticns ara nod fuliitied on of bedore Tih A pil), 2000 er auch latey dats aa My be mgrced belweed the Company, Hulchison and 13¥,

falllng which the Ag; will be | Amicly Jeated aubjoer 16 noy anbees decl thaima, '

Lampletion of Issar af the Boads R

Subject Lo fulfilidiesl of the conditions deas fled fn puagraph A3 wbove, completion of e saue of tha Bonds wil Lake plice ox the fiflh

banking duy Follawiny the dacs v whlch tic 1eit of such ponditions mes fulfiiied o2 such aiier date aa the Company, Hulcidson ed 13F may

aprec. .

Listlag of the Paads

The Compuny doct bt cwreally Intead Lo make any

any OUler diosk axchenge, ) .

The Compray will anako a0 spplicatiun ta ihe Lilng Comalitee of the Siock Bachange for the lsda g of, and peimisglos to doal lu, Lhe

Conrmalon Shaes. .

Use of Peaceeds

The gross procacds fom te lwva of the Bouds see catunned 1o be appaozlwstely JCE2FT mllllon. T b Inicoded that e

ared tohelp the Company scosberans its derslopmeni 1as cipaisicn, pastheubuty in the 0. payuseut saluikon by

Kessuns {ar the Lung of the Bandy

1%e puspooc of lmulug the Boads { b0 fac

the Group,

THE OF NS

T Optlonboldars

In conridersdlon of [fw ki wad 13)

Miuchlaon wnd 138,

Friacipal Terma of ine Opikons

T principsl terua of the Opdane are suirumainod heluw:

{2) Dprion Shases

" Hutchiran and LIP bas the right 10 escicle fhe Upuons

penered meztings of the Company by feasan caly of thoir belng

the Capvaralan Bhares and the Optlen

bavisg approved the {ssue of the ao‘uh. e Coaverslon Shares, tae Uptlans ask the Opilon

(e}
{4} tho appraval of the liswe of the Bonds sed the l3sua mad al)

appiicatlon far Listing of, of penninios to Jea! is, e Boods on the Mock Eickange ar

N proceeds will be
L

tats |1be cogugentcnt of a atrsiegle pante s which would ensblc and facitinie lugbes sapandlon of

ap1zeiug 1o euter Lok dhc Agroe meul, the (runpsoy bay cunditiouslty agreed 1a Jmnn ths Dptlona to

in whole of in past G subsczibe fot up te & 1014) sumbe: of Oprton Shases

sepresenilog 146 per cent. of the wolal fsvucd ahare capital of the Compuny #s ol the dutc of the A grecencis. Rumevsy, ug tha dete of the
relcvaat nalice piven by the Uptonbualicaa 1o cxeecisc the Options, if e relovant Bonubolde bave mot folly cxcrclicd ibe sanveslon
ighlo uader Yo redovant Boads, the Cpdoos rony only de catrcland dn the samp Jropoilion an the prepetion [ which tha conyciafon

fiyhis under e relevant Bonds have boen stecised.
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fou price, o botal of
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1nd & per conr, reapactivly, of such now Shares 1o be slloticd and ingucd o [4n au far a4 ezasonably piacticable and appropluie) the antse
forcw 48 svch Shares aus olfesed v guch Uhis d pasiles. Sucl offer will be opeu for & perlod of 3 baukiag duys from the daks of porkce of the offs1
givea by the Compary and fo the cxtent dbat Hvtchison kad 13¢ docs nal cebsatbe for any such Shates offeied, ke Coupany will be bee la
inrte ancd allot soch Sharos (o uiher panics on s no lesn Dwouiable o the Cowpny (bag thoas affeied to linwchlion aad 138

It BOARD HEFHESENTATION
Suhfec! b« Wio iosun of the Buads sod thy Xt red out below, 8 gy Many tims huw the dhle of the tesse of the Bunds appolac
 nuiinag ws w disecion of e Compny. |uscbiton wul procuss st ha svulnce dicctar 1hallaealgn ue direcior pf the Cowpany (0} dwing
the toawy ui e Muichlsoy Bood, If | i i of the Hudchivon Buad wr asy punt thereaf olber than la b subyidlaics, and Huszhlaog
and i rubsldiarias wgother hold O Shares ey Dpliog Sharea repieanndug 16ss than 7.5 par coul, of ihe then frsed alare caplhial of the
Compauy: o (1) sher he expiry of fbe Muckbros Bosd, If Hatehiso and itx aubsbdinsias lugethier hutd Icas than 7.5 per cont. of the Lhss
isamcd shars cpitad of e Capupuny, . .

K. UNDERTAKEING BY LAM MA & WA LIMIYED
Provided ihad Lam Ma & Wal Limited bas tho sight 1o voic o the relevma
sppiave the brasa ol Sz Momts aid Optivns sad the bsve of the Coavess tou
(o caercias all fin yoting sighis e » sharshoider of 8.} por cgnt. of the
roaolutiont. Lasg Ma & Wal Linsited bas oo iatzent in Huichison nad 138

F. JUINT VENTURE AGREEMENT
The Compray wud Hutehivos have spneed to win thelr raspective best edeavours te Frocire that s Jalos vaniane egizamient be stgasd ky tha
date of ipaue of the Bouds. The Conypany and fhaichlson ax dels reip baldiorlcn Intead to own I8 pec ccul. oach of the Inved thaso
saplivl of e jolol venturs, Tho purposs af the Jolnt veoluoe o o provide s wel-besed comprebontive on-lins payment golubion 1o banks sad
e-compieree. 1ol af curtomers of 1o Jnlst veaiure are capeated t Inctude, tut wot liziled 1o, mombers of bo Company mad Hutchisoa.
A fariber sanoancement on tbe detaila of e Jolsl veaiure sgecaces will be publivhed 2z and wheo 01 signed, i a0 required ueder the

Liniay Rules
SUSPENSION AND XESUMPTION DF THADING OF THE AHARES -
The tndiag of the Fhates were susperded on the Stock Hrobange trom (0:00 sm on 16k Febrary, 2000 ai s 1equent of ihn Cosipany The
Cottpasy ban anade aa dpplicatlos o the Sicch Bxchange fo maume toadluy uF the Shares m tho Suck Exchange from 300 a on 12ed Fobawaay,

20003, '
GENERAL

The Cowpnay iv pricelpelly engaged in the busloens of sysiews lntegmuion of mid mnge I dlstelbusion al’
o ] dzetlons systeimn Injegintlon kud the tading of Loleaomanvaicalion products and catlcs, Curpsndly, tha Baslug (' outstanding

il tllll..l'! aaillicn whick Is ¢oaverilbic lo & maclmum of npprozkeiicly 23.43 nillion Shams (weprescnliog approxissrely 14.9 per peal. of tha
extzing iisued adare capital of she Coupany). Sinae | Si Docember, 1999, the compleilon dats of ol 1 1ad svbacylption of Shatea d
on Zud Decemmbor, 1999, o number of Shater kavs boen laswed oo exerclsc of the Buicg £B and corisin optiens granicd 1o empioyosn of e
Compmiy, Lam ha & Wak Llnited, I ticn owsed ug W approxio sty 43.94% by My Laun Ho Nam, 45 465 by ¥r, Mz Chus Kwooy Bdousd, and
b.6% by Mr. Wal Yee Jan. Messrs. Lam, M s0d Wai nre Diros tocs. Beth utch1bon aod 13 arc isdipeadons of e di chlof caecutlve oifices
es subslastlud sharcholden of Yio Compauy, say of it subaldiazic o1 thelr eepoctlvo Avsocintes (51 deflaed undar the Listicg Rulea).

The Company will convenn s 1peclal yeveral mecling 64 100a A pricticabls W consider, wtncng othar Ikdags, ke resolutlon) refemed to o pmul&l‘:
A.3(4) nat {p} sbiwve, The Cumpeny will scnd a actics of speudsl geaasal mecling 1ogeths with an axp) elrcriar io all sbareboldera of
Lompany aeyoen s pracd cabla, .

BNF Pria Porcgrina Al Limiied in tho finnncial advlaos of se Lompany in relaiton o this Veesactipg.

Lm s sasouncement. uplisk the eapici atherwing rmquirea, the bollowleg trms phadl beve e Iallawing mepmlogs:

the apreemen: ia seipect of the lasus of the Bouds sod tha Dpilons botween e Company, Itutchlson, 137 sad Lam

apociaf goneral mectlng 10 be hohd 1o consider the resalitions 1e
Sharer apd Upidua Shares §am bdn & Wal Lindic bes underiakes
oxbutlng (seucd shuta sapiinl of the Cownpany Lo faveur of suck

“hApisoraca™
* Ma & Wi Limiicd duted | Bsh Rebauy, 2060

“Baiog CB™ l USSES00000 3 pes cemt, conrertibk boods due 2002 insued by the Cempuny 10 Tafvld Profli Compeny 1ixited, &

. wholly owged javesisam| holding wmpeny of Buing Asls Yebvate Hquily Fand

“Honda” ! the Iiutchison Hond and the [3F Bosd

“Hoxdbulde ™ tho peawonr who sa for the Gme blag the regislered boldors of the Boodt "

*Compray"™ ’ Vauda Systams & Cotomunicationt tloldiag: 1.imLed i

“Couverston Sharcs® the Sharca lo be dooued by g Compaty upoa ekerclas by 1bs Bondhotdon of Uio comverslon rghis fnder the Bonds

“Mezcton™ tha dirvcians of e Comprny :

“Clepup” i the Company sad his subaidfaricn

“Hurchisou™ { Hutehlvoa Iniesrurional Liited, o wholly-owsed aubuldiary of Hulchisun Whanapoa Livaited, whong scouiifer aea
. isted on die Siock Buchaugs

“Ilscbison Mend* 1ho cunve:iblo boud a the prinnpal num BfHKBIPT 966.537.98 10 be Juwed by tho Cossipany 1o Huichlaoa pusuaxi

13 iho Aprocmeps
“Huchivon Gpipu™ ¢ option to anbscribe for the Hutchisen Opilon Shaca grasied purniact ko the Agrasment

“Hutehiron Ogidon Shaso®  thc Shares 0 be fsucd by the Compusy upen exarcise of tee Rutchlior Optina or sy pari{n) thereaf, sock aamber of
l Shaces representing 7.8 per cxal of thoistak Iurved ylare capital of the Company as colunged by Ube [aaus and aflotment
of all of e Converalod Shares aod the Skares 1a be fanued wder the Basing CB upen 11 foil converslen

vI3 t andodepeadent thled proty a0t sascchated with apy of the i shiel lvi oy aub bucheldsr of the
b Lompuny
“13F Bond™ } tho coavertible bond fn the yuinsipd 1um oF ILEKIP, ) 54,635.51 1o be laaued by lhe Company 10 3P pursusal te the
Agreenicat o
"I1F Opilon” the optios o sobicailre for the 1P Optlon Shares grasntod pussunst i (s of the Agrtomeont

the. Sharea o be insued by Wis Cormpany wpos excicling of the 1B Opilan ¢r apy penls) theseol, such punbor of Shaies
1opieseniiag ) per coni. of tho wial lyuse shape eayiial ol the Cowpacy st oilargod by the lasuo and allotcnt of all
of e Uvaveision Shubrea aud the Sharen 10 be baued wndor ihe Buring CB upop lis fwll convorslca

the Bules Governlng the Llatag of Seouchics on Tha Siock Hecbanps of Hong Koop Linited

“LIP Oplies Sharer™

I luddog Rudeg™

“Opilisgy* - lluichizan Ciptlon and 13P Opilen

“taption Sheies™ ’ tha Hutchison Optlos Shases sud/or the 3P Cpilon Stmrcs fan the care may be)

“Shuer” * iovcd abares uF FK$D.10 eazh In o share capitsl of ths Campany

“Stoet Eachange™ The Slock Eschinge of Hosg Kong Liiled .
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